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Our Achievements
●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

Adoption of the SSSI Strategic Roadmap 2018 – 2021. The Roadmap’s overarching vision is for SSSI to
be Australia’s pre-eminent membership organisation for geospatial, surveying and other professionals
who define the ‘where’ in a complex and changing landscape. The roadmap highlights the pathway for
achieving this.
Fellows and Hon Fellows conferred. A number of our respected SSSI members were conferred Fellow
and Honorary Fellow status during the past year.
Hon Fellows - Michael Giudici, Clive Fraser, Ewen Sneddon and Gaby van Wyk
Fellows - Linda Morgan, Mark Shortis, Kerry Smyth, Raymond Tabulo, Raymond Watson
Locate19: Where to Next? Location: How we drive our digital future. Held from 8 – 10 April 2018 in
Melbourne, Locate19 explored how geospatial science is underpinning the rapid changes we are
experiencing now in the fourth industrial revolution - from advanced data capture techniques,
positioning, data analytics, artificial intelligence to strategy and policy. Locate19 attracted more than
150 speakers, 40 exhibitors and a record breaking 900+ delegates
2018 Asia Pacific Spatial Excellence Awards. National Award winners for the 2018 SSSI Individual APSEA
Awards include:
Professional of the Year - Elaine McAlister
Young Professional of the Year - Nicholas Brown
Women’s Leadership - Kathryn Salm
Undergraduate of the Year - Scott Johnson
Postgraduate of the Year - Safoora Zaminpardaz
Educational Development - Jonathan Osborn
Congratulations also to all the State category winners.
Inaugural Young Professionals Mentoring Program. Championed by the SSSI YP’s, the Mentoring
Program facilitates connections between students nearing the end of their degree programs and
professionals working in the surveying and spatial sciences industry. In its inaugural year, a total of 82
participants graduated from the program and it will grow from strength to strength.
Determining the Future Demand, Supply and Skills Gap for Surveying and Geospatial Professional
report. Coordinated by Consulting Surveyors National, SSSI part funded this research which is the third
study into the workforce gap for surveying and geospatial professionals. Economic drivers for Australia
and each State and Territory were reviewed to determine the surveying and geospatial skills required to
meet the demand in the property and construction sectors.
SSSI Representation. SSSI was represented at a number of International meetings including FIG General
Assembly in Hanoi, Vietnam, The United Nations World Geospatial Information Congress in China and
68th Council meeting of ASEAN Federation of Land Surveying and Geomatics (The ASEAN FLAG).
Active events and CPD calendar. Well over 150 CPD, Webinars and other events were held for SSSI
members and guests all over Australia.
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National Sustaining Partners
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OUR VISION
To provide a globally recognised forum for the surveying and spatial sciences community that leads, promotes,
advocates and delivers excellence.
OUR MISSION
To develop professional excellence, provide a support network and enrich the lives of our individual members, in
addition to progressing the surveying and spatial professions in Australia and abroad.
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1. Surveying and Spatial Sciences
Institute
The Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute (SSSI) combines the disciplines of land, hydrographic, engineering and mining
surveying, photogrammetry, cartography, geodesy, remote sensing and spatial information science. The Institute’s members
are involved in communities of practice such as land administration, land development, natural resource management, earth
observation, emergency management, forestry, agriculture, defence, marine environment, local government, health,
education, tourism, transport and many more.
Surveyors and Spatial Scientists deal with policy, administration, collection, measurement, analysis, interpretation, portrayal
and dissemination of spatially related land and sea information, together with associated planning, design and management.
They also acquire, integrate, manage, analyse, interpret, map or distribute information about a location in space and time.
They develop, design and provide related equipment, software and value-added services; undertake applied research,
knowledge management and technology development; and manage, educate and train others.
The principal objects of the Institute are:
• to empower the Members to strive for excellence in the application and practice of surveying and spatial science for the
benefit of the community;
• to represent, support, provide for and promote the professional interests of Members that work in the surveying and
spatial industry in all its disciplines;
• to provide a national and regional identity to enable the development of the surveying and spatial industry as a whole;
• to maintain and promote standards for Members and professional conduct of Members who work in the surveying and
spatial industry;
• to encourage, promote and assist Members to:
• pursue their professional commitments in an ethical, energetic and scientific manner;
• maintain a high level of personal and professional esteem when interacting with the community, clients,
colleagues and allied professionals;
• actively participate in the processes that shape society;
• encourage, assist and to professionally develop new surveying and spatial science graduates
• to enhance the professional character and status of Members who practice in the surveying and spatial sciences as
worthy contributors to the community;
• to promote honourable professional conduct and surveying and spatial science practice and to safeguard the interests of
the profession of surveying and spatial science generally;
• to encourage the study of surveying and spatial sciences and to improve the general professional and technical
knowledge of surveyors and spatial scientists and persons intending to engage in the professions of surveying or spatial
science;
• to promote and provide the awarding of prizes, scholarships, exhibitions, bursaries and funds for the purposes of
education in all branches of surveying and spatial science and;
• to write, edit, print, publish, issue and circulate a periodic journal or journals, papers circulars and other literary matter as
is conducive to the other objects set out in the Constitution to facilitate the exchange of ideas and knowledge between
Members of the Institute and the community generally by lectures, conferences and any other means and to maintain
libraries and data bases of materials and publications relevant to the spatial sciences.

07

2. President’s Report
I wish to acknowledge and thank SSSI Staff, Board, Chair of Regions’ and Commissions’, Regional Committees and
all Members for their valuable time and effort to develop and strengthen SSSI during the past year. I extend my
congratulation to the foundation SSSI members and partners as we celebrate SSSI’s 10th Anniversary.
Overall, it has been a good year for SSSI with quality events convened for members and the wider spatial
community. We have nurtured and built strong relationships with our local (ISNSW, ISVIC, CSN) and overseas (FIG,
OGC, ASEAN FLAG) stakeholders.
SSSI is the peak national body for surveying and spatial profession in Australia and remains the association of
choice for spatial practitioners. I am pleased to report that new member applications to join SSSI has significantly
increased. This is a testament to all the hard work of the SSSI community to deliver products relevant to
professional development. I would like to acknowledge the involvement and dedication of young professionals at
International, National and State events and webinars. More and more young surveyors and geospatial
professionals look to SSSI as a platform to grow their soft and technical skills.
I would also like to acknowledge the Fellows and Hon Fellows who were conferred during 2018 – 2019. The Fellows
and Honorary Fellows committee now has 94 fellows and 41 Honorary Fellows.
The Strategic Roadmap 2018-2021 has been a good framework for us to focus on initiatives that will grow SSSI in a
sustainable way. The year 2019-20 will be a focus on investment into a sustainable platform which brings increased
efficiency and productivity to operations and enable Regional Operations Manager’s to focus on new initiatives for
members.
The operations and SSSI Board focused on investment into the strategic plan and partnership initiatives to build a
strong and vibrant SSSI to serve its members. The Financial year, 2018-19 has not been to the expected outcome of
the Board, due to investment phase. However, the Board and operations have developed a framework to increase
revenue for SSSI in order to have a strong financial model for 2019-20. I am sure the investment in 2019-20 into a
new platform and certification will make a strong financial base for SSSI. In two years’, time the SSSI budget is
expected to be in surplus which will enable us to invest in more member projects.
Locate 2019 in Melbourne and provided significant platform for SSSI members to learn, collaborate and grow their
professional and business network. SSSI events have raised the profile of SSSI among professionals, government,
academia and private sector. The regional conferences have attracted high calibre of speakers and have been
successful in providing CPDs and relevant network opportunities.
Finally, I wish to thank all members, staff, volunteers and partners of SSSI for their confidence, enthusiasm and
passion in building and transforming SSSI to serve the needs and demands of society.
Dr Zaffar Sadiq Mohamed-Ghouse FSSSI FRGS
PRESIDENT
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3. Chief Executive Officer’s Report
In 2018-19, SSSI celebrates its tenth anniversary. Over the past 12 months, SSSI has experienced the most
significant changes in the organisation’s history.
It was the first full year of implementation of the Strategic Roadmap 2018-2021. The Roadmap as adopted in
May 2018 and was designed to affect every part of SSSI and to benefit every SSSI member. Its adoption proved as
challenging as expected and the magnitude of that challenge was certainly felt in its first full year.
This year lay the foundation for the ambitious objectives for SSSI in 2021:
• an engaged membership growing by 2026 to 80% of the sector
• an organisational reputation positioned with national influence
• a dynamic network of diverse and multi-disciplinary professionals
• a recognised contributor to Australia’s future through innovative practice
• a certification program valued by the profession, business and community
• a robust organisation that is well-governed and financially sound.
It’s an ambitious plan. By 2021, the aim is to position SSSI as one of the best professional membership
organisations in Australia.
In year one, the Strategic Roadmap saw 16 separate change projects delivered in four key target areas:
1. A GROWING MEMBERSHIP
a) Research and define our current & prospective membership, including those not traditionally viewed as
part of the sector
b) Review and start a rollout of improved member offerings with focus on YPs & women
c) Review our current membership structure, & how it interacts with the certification program, to ensure
maximum efficacy & appeal to members
d) Consult streams and design targeted trials for a robust & attractive certification program across all
e) Consult and deliver targeted programs to maximise young professional membership including
pathways for student membership
Growing our membership is the driver behind every activity undertaken within the Strategic Roadmap, and was
the major focus for this year. A comprehensive survey of SSSI members was undertaken, providing invaluable
data to inform the Board’s decision making for the future.
A number of consultation programs were undertaken and trials run to ascertain member needs, especially
regarding future membership and certification structures in our organisation. These will be further explored with
changes in membership and certification coming soon.
The focus on services for Young Professionals and Women in Spatial has shown some very pleasing early results,
especially in the significant growth of both student and YP membership across SSSI.
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2. LEADING THROUGH ADVOCACY & COMMUNICATION
a. Design and launch Body of Knowledge custodian initiative
b. Consult, devise and deliver a whole-of-organisation communications plan encompassing all current &
potential content, channels and platforms
c. Consult, devise and deliver a national public policy platform as the basis for all advocacy efforts
d. Devise and deliver a national advocacy program with an ongoing focus on informing & improving the
public policy directions of Federal & State Governments, plus Local Government as appropriate
This key target area is about improving the positioning of SSSI as the voice of the professionals in the industry,
and also as a thought leader with media, government, and the broader community. Though these projects were
not fully completed in 2018-19, the progress to date positions SSSI strongly in this space for 2020.
3. PRODUCTIVE PARTNERSHIPS
a. Revise and rebuild the sustaining partnership program with a view to longer term strength & value to
all parties
b. Actively seek out partnering opportunities which deliver member value and/or a broader revenue base
and review current MoUs for strategic fit
This key target area is vital: it is about rebuilding our external relationships, with both commercial and peer
organisations, to ensure they are effective and maximise the benefit to our members. SSSI has strengthened its
sustaining partnership offering and its alliance with a number of organisations.
4. A VIABLE & STABLE SSSI
a. Review the current Board and committee reporting processes & documentation to ensure timely and
strategically focused information for improved decision making
b. Revise our governance and staff structures on a regular basis to ensure relevance and fitness for
purpose
c. Review & rationalise the internal policy base
d. Devise & implement a zero-based budget for the organisation nationally
e. Review the suitability of our current technical platforms, including the website, and deliver a program
of works to deliver a best-in-class suite of platforms suitable for a technically savvy membership
The focus in this area is on the governance, sustainability and reliability of SSSI as a business. Without this, SSSI
will not be able to deliver the outcomes that our members demand. Very significant progress was made in each of
these projects, which were fully delivered with the exception of the new platform (project 4e) which will be rolled
out in 2019-20. In summary, 2018-19 can be marked a strategic success.
On the financial side, and especially when measuring the budget outcomes, this is not the case. Whilst the large
deficit for this financial year was in line with the budget projections made at the start of the year, it is not a result
which is sustainable. The deficit resulted from a number of factors:
1. a history of overspend at both national and regional levels over several years
2. a very high level of fixed costs, notably wages and rent, resulting from decisions in past years
3. several years of declining revenue across all sources not being matched by a tightening of expenditure
4. new expenditure required for the rollout of the Strategic Roadmap
5. a lack of ownership of the budget development process and budgetary outcomes at the regional and
commission levels of the organisation.
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Each of these played a part in the large deficit outcome. Importantly, the SSSI Board made a number of decisions
this year to address each of these issues. Whilst this will not immediately return SSSI to surplus budgets, it will
diminish the deficits year-on-year to a manageable level and put SSSI on track for a surplus by 2021–22.
To summarise, 2018-19 focused on two distinct but related areas: making SSSI a sustainable business and making
SSSI a more representative and relevant member organisation.
The first is vital though certainly not “sexy”. Every one of us understands that a business which is not effective,
efficient and living within its means has no future. That has been the challenge for SSSI –good things can’t happen
if there is no reliable base for the long term.
While not yet where we want it to be, SSSI is looking good for the future. We have had steady and solid
membership growth after a period of decline. We have reversed the escalation of deficit budgets year after year
and are on track for a future surplus.
I thank the Board, the Committees and Commissions of SSSI, and above all the members, for being champions of
SSSI and true believers in its greater future. And finally, I thank the dedicated staff of SSSI. They have walked
every step on our journey to make SSSI a better and stronger voice for its members.

Peter Olah
Chief Executive Officer
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4. The Board
Gaby van Wyk – President – 1/7/18 – 14/9/18
Gabriel Van Wyk graduated as a geographer and has been working in the field of
GIS for more than 30 years. He has had an extensive career in consultation to
various government agencies, utilities and the corporate sector on delivering
strategic or mission-critical solutions with integrated spatial intelligence. His
areas of interest and expertise extend into Open Data, Emergency and Early
Warning Systems, Big Data Management, Cross System Data Integration and Data
Integrity. Gaby also lectured in Geo-Information Science at the University of
Pretoria, was a leading contributor to the South African Standards Generating
body for GIS and is also the past president of GISSA (SSSI of South Africa).
Zaffar Sadiq Mohamed-Ghouse – President – 14/9/18 – 30/6/19
Dr Zaffar Sadiq Mohamed-Ghouse is currently the President of SSSI. He is also the
Executive Director for Strategic Consulting & International relations at Spatial Vision.
He holds a pivotal role as an adviser to various National and International spatial
organisations. He has 21 years of experience in client management, strategic
consulting studies, business development, project management, systems review and
integration for Utility Industry and Government, design, development and
management of spatial databases, review data framework policies, develop spatial
analyses techniques and technology including GIS applications development for major
clients in Australia, New Zealand, Malaysia, Indonesia, India and Saudi Arabia. He has
led several Multi-Million Dollar National Mapping projects for State and Federal
governments globally. He is also the Australian representative at ISO Technical
Committee 211 (Geospatial Information) and is active with United Nations Global Geospatial Information
Management. He serves on the Executive Board of World Geospatial Information Council (WGIC) and has academic
appointments as Adjunct Associate Professor at University of Melbourne and University of New South Wales.
Recently, he was elected as Vice President of the International Society of Digital Earth in Florence, Italy.
Paul Digney – Director – 1/7/18 - 30/6/19
Paul Digney is the Survey Technical Director for Jacobs Australia and is a licensed
surveyor in Tasmania and Victoria with over 25 years’ experience in the
surveying/spatial profession. Paul has shared his employment equally between public
and private sector roles with a strong focus on geodetic/cadastral surveying and more
recently 3D laser scanning, digital engineering and strategic consulting.
Paul holds a Bachelor of Surveying – Hons (1997) from the University of Tasmania and a
Graduate Certificate in Management (2003) University of Western Sydney.
Paul is a passionate Tasmanian who is the current President-Elect and Chair of the
Tasmanian Regional Committee and has been actively involved with the SSSI and legacy
organisations over the past two decades.
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Franco Rea – Director – 1/7/18 – 30/6/19
Franco Rea is a Director of Alexander & Symonds, an Adelaide based surveying firm
with over 85 years in business. Franco is a licensed surveyor and past recipient of the
prestigious Sydney John Stokes Award for his technical excellence and professionalism
in cadastral surveying, as well as the winner of the Spatial Professional of the Year
award in 2015 (SSSISA). Franco’s extensive expertise includes property, construction,
3D laser scanning & dimensional control work for both the public and private sectors,
as well as industrial metrology for the offshore oil/gas, aeronautical, manufacturing,
and fabrication industries. He has worked on a variety of projects throughout Australia
and overseas.

Kerry Smyth – Director – 1/7/18 – 30/6/19
Kerry Smyth has extensive experience in the Spatial Sciences professions
including technical, management, operational and strategic roles. Kerry runs her
own consulting business Spatialize, and is extensively committed to SSSI as
National Chair of the Spatial Information & Cartography Commission and WA
Board Director. Previously, she held senior positions in the WA Departments
Planning, Landgate, Land Information, Land Administration, and Land Surveys.
Kerry has diverse leadership experience in customer service, marketing, project
and contract management, procurement, plus financial, human resource and
asset management. She is a core change agent and driver for improvement.
Kerry is a recognized technical leader and mentor for women in non-traditional professions, having paved the way
in many gender first achievements. Kerry has professional certification GISP-AP, a BSc Cartography (with
distinction) from Curtin Uni, Dip Eng Surv, Dip Carto, Cert Public Sector Management, Cert Quality Customer
Service, and is a Local Govt Elected Member. She has always played an active role in the promotion of the
profession through SSSI and predecessors, SSI, MSIA, AURISA, AIC & IMTA.
Kerry Smyth was Convener of the WA Surveying and Spatial Sciences Conference for 4 consecutive years (201417). She is recognized nationally for an outstanding career in the spatial sciences and her leadership of
professionals in non-traditional roles. Kerry was WA Spatial Professional of the Year 2015 and is currently involved
with pro bono strategic projects and voluntary work for not for profit organisations including SSSI. She works as a
spatial ambassador and expert witness through her consultancy Spatialize. Kerry was bestowed the status of SSSI
Fellow in 2018.
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Richard Syme – Director – 1/7/18 – 30/6/19

Richard is an experienced geospatial and digital specialist with 12 years experience in
the architecture, engineering and construction industry. He is currently Geospatial
Team Lead in Aurecon's South Australia/Victoria region and works with a range of
professionals to bring geospatial technology and workflows to projects. Richard led a
team of Geospatial professionals during the planning and procurement stage of the
Melbourne Metro Rail Project. He specialises in solution development, enterprise GIS
and spatial data integration.

Richard is passionate about the next generation of professionals entering the spatial industry. Richard began
volunteering with SSSI on the Victorian Young Professional (YP) Committee in 2014 and was the representative on
the National YP Committee. In 2016 he succeeded Joel Dillon as Chair of the National YP Committee. One of his
notable achievements as Chair was the design and launch of a YP survey to better understand and get feedback
from YPs.
In October 2017 Richard left the role of YP Chair to Roshni Sharma to take on the vacant role of SSSI Director for
Victoria and in October 2018 was elected to this position. Richard continues to advocate and support YPs in his
role as Director.

Rob Sarib – Director – 1/7/18 – 30/6/19
Rob Sarib is presently the Director Survey / Surveyor-General, Survey Branch in the Land
Information Group of the Northern Territory Government’s Department of Infrastructure
Planning and Logistics; the Chair of the Surveyors Board of Northern Territory; and the
member of the Inter-governmental Committee on Survey and Mapping – Australia. Rob
obtained his degree in Bachelor Applied Science – Survey and Mapping from Curtin
University of Technology Western Australia in 1989 and holds a Graduate Certificate in
Public Sector Management received from the Flinders University of South Australia. Rob
was registered to practice as a Licensed Surveyor in the Northern Territory, Australia in
1991. Since then he has worked as a cadastral and geodetic surveyor, and a land survey administrator primarily
within government.
Rob has also been an active participant in our survey profession through the ISA, SSI, SSSI and FIG. With regards
to FIG, since 2002 Rob has worked on many positioning and measurement initiatives with numerous colleagues
from different countries and organisations. Rob is now Chair of the FIG Asia Pacific Capacity Development
Network whose focus is to build our surveying and geospatial information skills and knowledge for the future.
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Lee Hellen – Director – 1/7/18 – 30/6/19
Lee is a Registered Surveyor with Cadastral and Consulting Endorsement in
Queensland and Registered Licensed Surveyor in the Northern territory. Lee is
the owner and founder of Land Solution Australia Pty Limited, a private industry
leader is Surveying and Spatial science. An innovator and business leader, Lee
has served on numerous SSSI and SIBA boards and committees over the last 12
years. He has received several individual and industry awards for excellence in
Surveying and Spatial Science for his work in this industry since 2007. Lee has formal qualifications at a bachelor
and post graduate certificate level in surveying and spatial science and is a Graduate Member of the Australian
Institute of company Directors (AICD).
A passionate advocate for surveying and spatial services within the wider community, Lee was jointly responsible
for devising the 3dQld strategy which is leading the profession through evolution of Australian Cadastre to meet
the needs of a digital world. A future business leader and innovator for our industry, Lee has a lasting appreciation
of the history of the surveying and mapping profession and the many exciting opportunities for the future of the
profession.
Lee openly shares his ideas for success for the greater collective good of the industry and community. Lee actively
champions the industry across internal and external industry sectors to bring greater awareness and
understanding of the surveying and mapping professions.

Richard Cullen – Director – 1/7/18 – 30/6/19
Richard maintains a strong foundation knowledge and practice in project
management, geospatial analysis, data management and strategic outlook for both
present and future innovation. He commenced a Master of Maritime Policy at the
University of Wollongong (ANCORS) in August 2018 and is due to complete this mid2020.
Routinely conducting surveys for navigation, environment, reclamation, dredging,
sedimentation, volume monitoring, and infrastructure planning. Independent client
representative activities and resource planning consultancy using a variety of geospatial datasets is also a growing
area of operation. Since 2007, Richard has also been conducting institutional strengthening in the delivery of
hydrographic survey and cartography with international government agencies.
Richard has been a volunteer with in the SSSI since 2005 and involved with multi-disciplinary teams both nationally
and internationally to promote the industry. Active in a variety of working groups ranging from hydrographic survey
education, mentoring, national multibeam standards, ISO standards for LiDAR, S-44 Standards for Hydrographic
Surveys and certification standards for hydrographic surveyors.
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Wayne Patterson- Director – 19/8/18 – 30/6/19
Wayne is the Director of Spatial Operations for NSW Spatial Services. Wayne has 20
plus years’ experience in the spatial industry covering a range of disciplines from
Operations to Strategy and Policy development. Some of Wayne’s achievements
include the establishment of the NSW Common Spatial Information Initiative CSI2i), the
establishment of the NSW Spatial Council now Location Leadership Group and Industry
Advisory Group, led the development and delivery of the NSW Location Intelligence
and Location Plus strategies and the development of a number of spatial policies and
standards that today form part of the NSW Government Information Management
Framework. Wayne is directing the delivery of the NSW Digital Twin project including the transformation of the
NSW Foundation Spatial Data Framework from 2D to 3 and 4D.
Wayne is a member of the Intergovernmental Committee of Surveying and Mapping and the NSW ANZLIC Contact
Officer, sponsor of the ICSM Permanent Committee on Addressing.

Jonathan Saxon – Company Secretary – 1/7/18 – 30/6/19
Jonathan Saxon is the Managing Director of Project Surveyors (formerly Clement
& Reid). Jonathan is a Registered Land Surveyor in NSW since 1993 and holds a
Bachelor of Surveying Degree from UNSW (1988). Jonathan also has a Masters of
Management Degree from Macquarie Graduate School of Management – a world
ranked Management School, and a part of Macquarie University, which he
obtained in 2001.
Jonathan has been primarily employed in the private sector as a Surveyor since
graduation, and has been managing his current business since 1995, as one of
three directors. In 2008 he became the last President of the Institution of
Surveyors Australia, and in 2009, was the first President of the Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute. Jonathan
was also a member of the Merger Working Group which ultimately saw the creation of the Institute by fully
merging SSI and ISA together. Jonathan held the role of Treasurer from 2010-2017

016

Roshni Sharma – YP Observer – 1/7/18 – 30/6/19
Roshni is the Chair of the SSSI Young Professionals, and the Young Professionals
representative on the SSSI Board. She is a GIS Specialist for Umwelt (Australia), a Hunterbased environmental consultancy. Roshni has been an active member of SSSI since 2016 at
both regional and national levels, and is passionate about creative positive intergenerational
change within the industry through initiatives such as the SSSI National Mentoring Program
and other initiatives that facilitate effective collaboration and innovation both within our
industry and with other tangential industries and sectors.
Roshni holds Bachelor of Environmental Science and Management (Honours) from the University of Newcastle,
has completed research into long-term climate change and earth systems science through a Master of Science
(Geoscience) at the University of Sydney, and has specialised in GIS through a Master of Science and Technology
(Spatial Information) at the University of New South Wales. She is currently pursuing a Master of Business
Administration through the University of Newcastle, and one of 80 women selected internationally to be part of
Homeward Bound, a year-long leadership program for women in STEM culminating in a three-week intensive in
Antarctica in 2020.
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5. Membership
Overseas, 70
Western
Australia, 233

Northern Territory, 25
Queensland, 583

New South Wales,
296

South
Australia, 283

Australian Capital
Territory, 76

Victoria, 272
Tasmania, 80

348

169

839

Total Membership
1918
76

Membership figures as at July 2019

486
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6. Regional Reports
ACT Region
Chair: Noel Ward
Over the past year the ACT Committee has opened dialogue with various interest groups within our industry. Our
aim has been to engage more with members and those on the fringe of the Institute. This engagement has
enabled the ACT Region to set a strong foundation for the coming year.
Undoubtedly the highlight of the year was the 3D Conference and Awards Dinner held in November 2018 at the
National Gallery of Australia. The conference and awards dinner was a success with good attendance to both.
The following events were held in 2018/19:
• 2/11/2018 – ACT Conference and Awards Dinner
• 28/11/2018 – Land Surveying Commission Twilight Event
• 28/3/2019 – Land Surveying Commission Twilight Event
• 26/6/2019 – Land Surveying Commission Twilight Event
In 2019/2020, education is the focus as the Let’s Locate Program breaks new ground in engaging school students.
The ACT Region will organise new and different learning opportunities for members in 2019/20. It is anticipated
these opportunities will engage those in all parts of the industry, education and the general public.
I encourage you to consider a role on our local ACT Committee to advance our professions and develop other
skills that will help on your own career.
I would like to thank Greg Ledwidge and Joanne Hawkes for their continued efforts in organising CPD events.
I would also like to thank our local Sustaining Partners, the ACT Emergency Services Agency and the Office of the
Surveyor General for their continued support of the SSSI ACT Region.
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NSW Region
Co-Chair: Mary-Ellen Feeney
Co-Chair: Liz Fulton
The NSW Committee took some time this year to review our structure and strategy and ensure we are aligned
and well positioned to assist with the SSSI Strategic Roadmap.
The Regional Governance structure now includes co-chairs, a vice chair and past chair roles. The role of Regional
Chair can be time consuming, this new structure will ensure that NSW is provided well rounded and continued
support for members. It also creates greater diversity and assists to share the load of tasks across two industry
professionals.
Mary-Ellen Feeney and Liz Fulton have worked together on industry boards and committees before, and are both
excited to be leading the charge for NSW.
At the start of their tenure, Strategic Planning Workshops and meetings were held with key SSSI representatives
to ensure continuity of activity & support, allocation of Committee members to portfolios & tasks for regional
development purposes, the proposal of a new interest group for regional Digital Engineering activity and the
addition of new members. There is a clear Governance structure across our Services, Disciplines, Special Industry
Groups and Industry groups such as BOSSI, SMIC, ISNSW, ACS & SIBA-GITA.
Events for the year included:
● SSSI NSW Conference was held in Wollongong, with the theme of “Earth – Air – Fire – Water” Tis theme was
chosen to reflect the diverse nature of spatial and surveying sciences which is inherently a multidisciplinary
pursuit.
● Conference also celebrated our communities through the APSEAs, a breakfast presentation and information
sharing with local Rotary and the satellite Fore Mapping workshop.
● AS5488 Colloquium - The Nuts and Bolts: From Software Alignment to Product Delivery in conjunction with
Engineers Australia;
● Global Surveyors Day in partnership with ISNSW;
● Vivid Sydney Mapping Experience – Cartographica and All That Jazz;
● WIS Event – Balance for Better: Celebrating International Women’s Day;
● GDA2020 – Off to the Camels which included an afternoon of camel racing;
● World Hydrography Day;
● World GIS Day and;
● SSSI’s First Fire Mapping Workshop, with the Rural Fire Service, in collaboration with Geoscience Australia.
Congratulations to the 2018 APSEA NSW Award Winners and those Highly Commended for their outstanding
accomplishments in our industry.
Individual Winners
● Professional of the Year - Mary- Ellen Feeney
● Young Professional of the Year - Nikolaas Kostraby
● Women's Leadership Award - Mary-Ellen Feeney
● Undergraduate Student (Highly Commended) - James Wallace
● Undergraduate Student Award - Rick Williams
● Postgraduate Student Award - Kenneth Tsang
● Educational Development Award - Renee Coysh
● Special Achievement Award - Roshni Sharma
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Industry Winners
● Technical Excellence - Jacobs and Roads & Maritime Services, The Sydney Harbour Bridge High Precision TLS
Survey & 3D CADD Modelling
● Spatial Enablement - Spatial Services, SME Project
● People and Community - Spatial Services, 3D Theatre of Operations for Splendour in the Grass
Looking ahead we have a short term strategy to support the SSSI Strategic Roadmap that also focuses on
membership, leadership, viability and stability. Pragmatically this will result in a renewed presence in regional
areas, key events around International Women's Day, Global Surveyors & GIS Day and seminars in relevant areas
of interest to our region. Additionally there will be an increase in webinar capability to ensure all NSW members
can participate in professional development irrespective of their location or other potential barriers to
attendance.
We will take this opportunity to thank those who have all contributed to another successful year for the NSW
Region. There is a significant amount of work that happens behind the scenes and the majority of that is due to
volunteers, who contribute their time for the ongoing benefit of our industry and members.
● Gaby Van Wyk, who after his term as president stepped into the role of NSW Chair and steered the committee
through the start of the SSSI Strategic Roadmap and provide guidance and support to us as we transition to
new chairs and a new committee structure.
● The NSW Regional Committee & event organisers including the Regional Conference Committee for their
ongoing effort to plan and engage with members through fantastic events.
● Kathryn Tobin, Adrian White and Alex Pescud who have chosen to step down from the committee. Thank you
for all the time, effort and energy you have given to the committee.
● Our regional Sustaining Partners for their continued support of our region and industry: Jacobs, UrbisPro,
University of NSW and Wollongong City Council. Along with all our individual event sponsors throughout the
year: Maxar, Ptiney Bowes, Aerometrex, Nearmap, Carlson, Global XTerrain, Omnilink, Listech – HxGN
SmartNet, Locus Global, Cardno, Land Surveys, 1Spatial, LandTeam, UPG, Big Data Earth and C.R. Kennedy.
● Special thanks to our ROM Megan Lavender, who adds a wonderful new flair to the committee, in particular
her event planning. Whilst we work hard on making the content relevant and engaging, Megan works extra
hard to source great venues & entertainment and be a step ahead of the committee helping us ensure we
provide value to our members.
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NT Region
Chair: Rob Sarib
The main focus of SSSI Northern Territory (NT) in 2018-19 has been the organisation of the South East Asia Survey
Congress (SEASC) which will be held at the Darwin Convention Centre from 15-18 August 2019 with our partners
from ASEAN Flag Surveying nations. The theme of the Congress is Collaboration, Communication and CapacityBuilding, and it is anticipated that over 500 delegates across Asia Pacific region will attend this event. The
Congress is developing a quality technical program and gathering a group of keynote speakers to entice
discussions on how surveying and geospatial professionals will remain relevant to the needs of society, and that
collaboration is the key to meeting the future technical, social and environmental challenges in digitally
connected surroundings.
The other 2018/19 activities that SSSI NT participated in were:
• Sponsorship of 5 students to attend the Charles Darwin University Conoco Phillips Science Experience, held on
16-18 October 2018. SSSI NT has now been involved in this national program for 6 years as it provides
interactive learning opportunities in a wide range of sciences and technology so as to encourage students to
do further study and choose a career in our profession.
• The commemoration of the original landing and achievements of Surveyor-General George Woodroffe Goyder
of 150 years ago (5 February 1869). In conjunction with NT Government agencies and the National Trust,
several events were organised. These included a Family Fund day at the Darwin Water Front, a historical talk
at Goyder’s Park and NT Archives, and a reception at the main hall in Parliament House. There were also
exhibitions at the Roadmasters House titled “In the Footsteps of Goyder”, at the NT Archives and the NT
Library displaying the journal of Goyder, and images of plant specimens collect by the naturalist in Goyder’s
party respectively.
• Ongoing support to the Survey Museum at the National Trust Roadmasters House.
Looking forward, the SSSI NT expects SEASC 2019 in Darwin to be a success, and appreciates the support and
efforts provided by our fellow colleagues to date. The SSSI NT also hope to expand our membership and organise
additional professional development events in 2019/20.

022

Queensland Region
Chair: Paul Reed
It has been a busy year for the Queensland Regional staff and volunteers, with some of our older volunteers
stepping aside making way for our younger leaders to become involved in the Queensland Regional Committee
(QRC). Although we faced some challenges with staffing, we managed to run our Brisbane and regional seminars
successfully. Last year we saw Roy Somerville stepping down as the Chair of the Region and retire from the QRC.
We also saw Ewen Sneddon hand over the reins of the LSC Commission. We appreciate both Roy and Ewen’s
efforts over the years.
This year the central focus for Queensland has remained on the building of our membership and providing value
for members. We are continuing to work with Destination Spatial, government Departments and SIBA|GITA in
facilitating pathways to surveying and geospatial.
We wish to formally thank those members who have actively supported the work of the QRC over the last 12
months, thank you all for your fantastic contributions.
Firstly, we started off with a big move – our physical premises in Brisbane! Over the early part of the year, our
Administration Officer (now Regional Operations Manager) Katie coordinated the move to a brand new office in
Milton, shared with our sister organisation, SIBA|GITA. The new space has a modern, open plan workstation area
for staff, as well as a fantastic Boardroom, which is well used by our committees, along with other partners such
as the Surveyors Trust and DSQ. We hope to offer this room for use by our broader membership base in 2019-20.
We held three successful major events, the SSSI Queensland Conference, held in Brisbane in August; the Central
Group Conference held in Rockhampton in October and; the Northern Group Conference in Townsville in
November. We continue to strive to present these events across the state, to provide relevant and interesting
local content as well as speakers from across the state on topical surveying and spatial issues. They are also a
valued networking opportunity, as colleagues new and old take the chance to discuss their work, see the latest
technology from suppliers and connect over various social functions, including the Queensland Asia-Pacific Spatial
Excellence Awards, where we once again celebrated the achievements of some outstanding Queensland
professionals.
To close off the events in 2018, in November we held a Fellows Dinner at Parliament House honouring two
Queenslanders as Fellows of the Institute. Ray Tabulo conferred the award of Fellow and Ewen Sneddon
Honorary Fellow, the highest honour SSSI bestows on our members. Both members have made an exemplary
contribution to the profession and to SSSI.
Our final highlight was the inaugural Geospatial Information Competition, an opportunity for school students
from years 7 – 10 to identify an issue in their community and use spatial technology to try and solve it. While it
was a national program, Queensland staff and volunteers were the key drivers of the competition, along with
Destination Spatial. The competition was successful in its first year with very positive feedback from both
participants and those involved in engaging with the winners at Locate19.
We continue to place our focus on providing support, advocacy, representation and topical, relevant continuing
professional development opportunities for our members, along with opportunities to network with each other
as well as the broader surveying and spatial science community.
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We will be hosting our three conferences, this year in Brisbane, Gladstone and Cairns, our Spatial Excellence
Awards dinner, as well as webinars and specialist seminars/workshops on the issues our members have identified
as critical to their career growth and to the improvement of their work processes and skills.
We also are very pleased that Brisbane has been selected as the host for the Locate20, Australia’s largest
surveying and spatial science conference. The event, taking place in Brisbane in late April 2020, will be a fantastic
opportunity for Queensland to showcase our talented spatial professionals and innovative spatial businesses.
The theme for Locate20 is Convergence, Collaboration and Community – towards a stronger economy. Surveyors
and Geospatial scientists are using technologies that are being shared across a wide sector of the spatial
community and our industry can only succeed through collaboration. Our Queensland Chair, Paul Reed, is the
Chair of the Organising Committee for Locate20 and will play a key role in the development of the program of this
important event in the spatial calendar.
SSSI Queensland is proud to once again have had a solid year in retaining our existing members and increasing our
membership through re-admissions and new members. Our member town groups in regional areas particularly
remain active and engaged – these informal catch ups to discuss local hot topics and challenges are something we
aim to continue and grow.
I would like to thank the staff that have supported our regional committee over the last 12 months. Our sincere
thanks for the hard work contributed by our SSSI staff and regional volunteers. Thank you to Katie Le Miere for
her dedication as ROM.
We are extraordinarily grateful for the support of all of our members, Committees, Sustaining Partners, event
convenors and sponsors and the many others that contribute to SSSI Queensland’s ongoing success and we look
forward to ongoing improvement through the SSSI Strategic Plan and membership growth in our region.
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South Australia Region
Chair: Franco Rea
For SSSI South Australia, 2018-19 was another busy and fruitful year focusing on further development of activities
to support, develop and advocate for the surveying and spatial industry in SA and beyond.
As always, thanks and recognition must go to the members of our SSSI SA Regional Committee, Land Surveying
Commission Committee and Young Professionals Committee who consistently give of their time and expertise to
provide our regional members with a broad spectrum of valuable events to attend, while addressing key issues
affecting our industry at both state and national level.
We must also acknowledge our regional Sustaining Partners, Alexander Symonds, Ultimate Positioning Group,
Flinders University and The University of Adelaide, whose continued support is so valuable.
In October 2018, we held a slightly different version of our long-standing Spatial Information Day conference.
Following the Locate18 conference in Adelaide in April, it was decided that, for one year only, SID would be
replaced by SIDx, a half-day conference with a twist! It’s always a risk to mix up a successful formula, but the
spatial community in SA did not let us down as they turned out in force to find out more about key issues such as
the Adelaide 3D City Model, GDA2020, The Power of a Professional Network and participate in The Great Debate:
‘Surveying is Not Spatial’.
As always, the Asia-Pacific Spatial Excellence Awards SA dinner continues to be a highlight of the calendar and, in
2018 we recognised the contribution of some key players within the SA industry.
The 2018 APSEA SA winners were:
Individual Winners
Women in Spatial – Annemarie Mabarrack
Educational Development – Dr Paul Corcoran
Post Graduate Research - Sofanit Araya
JB & JW Calder Award - Scott Allen
Industry Award Winners
Technical Excellence – Tonkin Consulting
Environment and Sustainability – Department for Environment and Water
People and Community – Surveying SA
Spatial Enablement – Tonkin Consulting
The SSSI SA Land Surveying Committee continued to address important issues affecting the land surveying
community as they arose, such as new Planning Legislation, the development of Accredited Professionals and
Surveying Practices.
Our South Australian Young Professionals continue to be active and engaged in supporting the growth and
development of the next generation of spatial professionals in SA. In 2018-19, our SSSI SA YP Committee held 10
events aimed at providing networking and professional development opportunities to the student, graduate and
young professional community in SA.
The highlight of the year for our Young Professional community was undoubtedly the SA launch of the SSSI Young
Professional Mentoring Program. The first iteration of the program was a resounding success, facilitating
mentoring connections between students nearing the end of their degree programs and professionals working in
the surveying and spatial sciences industry. We look forward to growing this program in 2019-20.
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As well as continuing the momentum of Spatial Information Day, within the SIDx format, and celebrating our
achievements at the Asia-Pacific Spatial Excellence Awards of South Australia, SA held a series of successful and
topical workshops, seminars and networking events over the course of the year.
SSSI SA must once again acknowledge the significant contribution of our local members and supporters, in the
planning and delivery of both our regional and national flagship events – it was another busy year!
Also in 2018-19, the SSSI Land Surveying Commission, in conjunction with the Surveyors Board for South Australia,
held a further two highly successful cadastral workshops, with over 120 cadastral and graduate surveyors in
attendance at each event.
In October 2018, SSSI SA was delighted to work with Orienteering Australia to promote surveying and spatial
sciences to a group of more than 200 school students at the National School Orienteering Championships. Later in
the year we held a highly successful presentation skills workshop, aimed at equipping the spatial community with
the skills needed to share knowledge and ideas effectively.
In early 2019, we held a GIS in Local Government seminar featuring a series of presentations highlighting the
diverse uses of geospatial technology within local government. The cities of Marion, Salisbury and Playford were
represented, and Alexandrina and Yorke Peninsula Councils shared from a regional perspective.
As always, we are grateful to the South Australian surveying and spatial community for their continued support of
these events. In summary, the major events for SA include:
• Launch of the Young Professionals Mentoring Program 2018, July 2018
• Latest in Trimble Technology from Ultimate Positioning Group, August 2018
• SSSI-SA at the National Orienteering Championships, October 2018
• SIDx and APSEA-SA 2018, Friday 26 October 2018
• Step Up! Presentation Skills Workshop, November 2018
• Cadastral Workshop, November 2018
• GIS in Local Government Seminar, February 2019
• Cadastral Workshop, April 2019
SSSI SA is already well into the planning and preparation for Spatial Information Day and APSEA-SA 2019, on
Friday 25 October 2019 at the Adelaide Convention Centre. We are looking forward to getting back to our usual
format after SIDx in 2018, and the exciting and diverse mix of presentations we have planned – www.sid.org.au.
We will also continue our focus on delivering great opportunities and services to our regional members, as well as
a strong, unified voice for our industry in South Australia.
I personally would like to thank the SSSI South Australian Regional Committee, the Young Professionals
Committee and the Spatial Information Day 2018 Organising Committee for their outstanding contribution and
their commitment and passion in bringing events together and giving our members an opportunity to learn and
be connected. I would also like to thank our ROM Imogen Craig for the great support and work she does for the
South Australian region.
Finally, I take this opportunity to thank our regional Sustaining Partners: Alexander Symonds, Ultimate Positioning
Group, The University of Adelaide and Flinders University.
Without these Partners, SSSI South Australia would be unable to provide many of the events, opportunities and
support that are so valuable to our members and our community.
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Tasmania Region
Chair: Paul Digney
The 2018-19 year has been another busy productive year for the Tasmanian Region. I would like to thank our
committed and hard-working committee for their continued efforts throughout the year presenting outstanding
events and activities to our growing local membership.
Key highlights for the year were our annual events - the State Surveying and Spatial Conference which was held in
Hobart and attracted an outstanding list of speakers supported by a strong attendance and the State of the GIS
which was held in May and attracts our largest attendance for the year.
The Tasmanian Regional Committee whilst small, works hard to provide strong representation of our members.
The committee strives tirelessly to organise and run successful events across the year.
The Tasmanian Regional Committee represents around 80 members, and we maintain a mailing list of an
additional 170 individuals.
This year has seen the committee grow with the inclusion of two new members: Inga Playle and Briallen Hall.
Inga and Briallen bring welcomed youth and enthusiasm to our committee taking on the additional roles of WIS
and YP representatives. The committee currently consists of myself Paul Digney as Chair and Engineering and
Mining Surveying Commission representative. Scott Strong as Treasurer, Briallen Hall as YP as well as Michael
Giudici, Steven Flude, Inga Playle and Natalie Williams as general committee members.
I would also like to recognise the contribution and efforts of outgoing committee members Rob Driessen and
Dylan Colson. Rob and Dylan have been valuable long-term members of the committee and I wish to thank them
for their contribution.
We run two major events in Tasmania each year: The State of GIS and the Tasmanian Surveying and Spatial
Conference. The State of GIS was held at the RACV venue in the centre of Hobart this year, and attracted over 140
delegates, which is a record. This excellent half day event presents a broad range of speakers who offer a short
10-minute presentation, which provides a succinct snapshot of spatial projects and activities across the State.
The Tasmania Surveying and Spatial Conference which was held in Launceston in September 2018 attracted over
130 delegates and is the State’s major industry event and regularly attracts speakers and delegates from across
Tasmania and interstate. This year’s event In Hobart was no different with an outstanding list of speakers
providing excellent presentations on the current and future direction of our profession. The event culminated in
the Tasmania Asia-Pacific Spatial Excellence Awards dinner, capping off what is always an outstanding event.
This year’s APSEA recognised outstanding individuals and projects from Tasmania, with congratulations to our
industry award winners - Land Tasmania and Insight GIS and to Jon Osborn from the University of Tasmania who
was awarded the Education Development Award for his outstanding service to Tasmania Surveying & Spatial
Education. Of note Jon went on to win the national APSEA for this category.
In addition, we held several smaller events, including a combined SSSI TAS and UTAS Cadastral Seminar, which
attracted an outstanding 70 delegates. The day ended with a BBQ provided by the UTAS surveying society to
mark the start of the new academic year.
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Christmas functions were held in the north and south of the state. The northern Christmas event was held jointly
with PIA and AIA, as has been the tradition for a couple of years. The southern event whilst small this year gave
our members the opportunity to network and reflect on the past year. We also continue to meet with the
students from the UTAS Surveying Society each semester, including sponsoring their BBQ.
For a small region we receive strong support from our industry and professional partners. I’d like to take this
opportunity to recognise our sustaining partners for the 18-19 FY, they include:
• Ultimate Positioning, Regional Silver partners
• Land Tasmania, Regional Silver partners
• City of Hobart, Regional Silver partners
• City of Launceston, Regional Bronze partners
The Tasmanian regional committee is a small dedicated group of professionals who commit a significant amount
of their own time to the benefit of our members and the profession at large. Whilst the committee is doing an
amazing effort, including organising major events as well as promoting the profession through education
initiatives, advocating for members, and collaborating with other organisations there's only so much seven
people can do!
It’s fantastic that we have seen new members join committee for the new year, replacing those members who
have committed their time over a long period. However, to continue the great work, committee will need a
further injection of new members to support the current group. In particular, it needs more diversity and younger
professional representation. Whilst we have on a number of occasions reached out to the membership calling for
support, we continue to struggle to get greater engagement from the profession.
The positive is that we are not yet prepared to give up, and have faith in the work we are doing and take
confidence from the new strategic roadmap being developed nationally - that it will resonate with the profession
and will result in membership growth and bring new people ideas and enthusiasm to what is already a great
committee.
Looking ahead, the new year provides significant opportunities, we will again have our major events programmed
in May and September, but additional events are also scheduled providing valuable CPD and industry news and
activities to our members and broader Tasmania audience.
We also look forward to working more closely with our Sustaining Partners to continue to deliver valued events
and activities and collectively raise the awareness and importance of the profession.
On a national front the new year also provides great opportunities, with the Brisbane Locate20 coming up in May
and the continuation of the very successful YP mentoring program.
In conclusion I would like to again recognise the efforts and commitment of the region’s hard working committee,
the result of which is a strong and capable region from which to build upon towards greater success.
I would also like to thank all the people who have volunteered tirelessly over the last year. I would also like to
acknowledge our partners and industry supporters. Finally, thanks to the SSSI Members in Tasmania, for their
ongoing support.
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Victoria Region
Chair: Lindsay Perry
The year 2018-2019 was one of consolidation for the Victorian Region Committee, as a result of a number of
members being transferred interstate and overseas in recent times.
This year the SIC Commission has had one of its most active years and initiated a series of breakfast seminars
around the various aspects of Data Capture Methods for Reality Modelling. These seminars were also attended
by a number of surveyors which gives an indication of how todays spatial disciplines have many synergies.
The Young Professionals continued their active program, with sellout tours of the State Library of Victoria Map
Room, Melbourne Observatory and the running of a successful mentoring program which was launched in July.
We also welcomed the National YP’s Chair Roshni Sharma to our Annual Summit, who expounded on the
challenges and opportunities that Young Professionals can bring to the future of our industry.
The Women in Spatial SIG has continued to focus on raising the skill profile of professional women. Events were
held on International Women’s Day, a breakfast prior to the Summit, and other twilight events which continue to
support Women in the Surveying and Spatial Industry, including part sponsorship of a Georabble event.
Both the Land Surveying Commission and Spatial Information and Cartography Commission have active sub
committees which provide underlying support to the Regional Committee in the role of advocacy and service
delivery.
Locate 19
Locate was held in our region this year and there were more than 150 speakers, 40 exhibitors and close to 900
registrants. Congratulations to the co-convenors Glen Cockerton, Kate Williams and their organising committee.
Advocacy and Representation
SSSI has been invited to join a number of stakeholder groups including the:
• DELWP Digital Cadastre Modernisation Project.
• Co-design of a structured CAD format for supplementing plan-based transactions and surveys at Land Use
Victoria.
• Quarterly meetings with Land Registry providing opportunities for consultation and discussion around matters
of mutual interest.
• Meeting with the Surveyors Registration Board.
• Delivery of a joint Surveying Taskforce and Destination Spatial Qld presentation to students competing in the
Orienteering Australia - Australian School Championships.
• We have two active representatives in the Surveying Taskforce.
The Victorian Regional Committee endeavors to continue to work in a collaborative fashion with other
professional bodies and industry associations in the Victorian Region. We commence each year with a joint Land
Surveying Commission Seminar in conjunction with the ISV. This provides the opportunity for our Surveyor
General at a single event, to promote proposed departmental initiatives and review previous and current matters.
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Annual Surveying & Spatial Summit and APSEA-Vic Awards
Our theme for the Summit was Define, Deliver Maintain - recognising the significant role in how our efforts are
different in the way we collect manage and process geospatial data and apply our expertise to the many
infrastructure projects now taking place.
Modern-day issues and technologies are demonstrating how the boundaries between the traditional spatial
disciplines are converging, and as a consequence; we ran a number of single stream sessions which reflected the
broad appeal of these emerging contemporary issues.
Congratulations also go to our 2018 APSEA Victoria Individual Award Winners: • Young Professional of the Year Award: Mina Jahanshahi
• Women's Leadership Award: Mary Rabling
•
Education Development Award (joint winners0: Dr Mohsen Kalantari, University of Melbourne and Dr
Christoph Rϋdiger, Monash University
• Postgraduate Student Award: Dr Marie Truelove
• Sustained Excellence in Cadastral Surveying: Mark Langenbacher
Congratulations also go to Dr Mohsen Kalantari who was highly commended in the Educational Development
Award at the 2018 Asia Pacific Spatial Excellence Awards (APSEA) and to SSSI Honorary Fellow Ray Holmes who
was deservedly awarded an AM-Member of the Order of Australia in the Australia Day Honours, for significant
service to surveying and mapping and to professional organisations.
The Victorian Regional Committee will be holding its Annual Planning Day on 16th November to develop an
intensive program of events for 2020. We encourage further suggestions and input from members.
We aim to develop further and engage with our Young Professionals. There has been an exponential increase in
their attendances to our major events and they have a lot to contribute to the advancement of SSSI.
We will continue to develop events in Regional Victoria and we are currently looking at developing a series of CPD
events in Central Victoria in conjunction with the Australian Geospatial Intelligence Organisation (AGIO).
Thank you to our regional committee members Andrej Mocicka, Melinda Borg, David Kelly, Moshen Kalantari,
Geoffrey Patterson, Chris Bellman, Richard Syme, Zita Ultmann, Jason Heritage, Frazer Wilson and Noor Raziq who
recently joined us and Melissa Green and Oscar So who attend our meetings as student representatives. Our
Regional Operations Manager Su Ling Meimaris provides valuable support and provides a professional touch to
our events and activities.
Thank you also to our conference sponsors, event sponsors and sustaining partners during the year:C.R Kennedy, Listech, Taylors, 1Spatial, Leica, Listech, HxGN Smart Net, Aurecon, ACSIS, Bentley, Civil Survey
Solutions, GHD and Jacobs, and our academic partners, University of Melbourne, RMIT University and Monash
University.
Finally, to our volunteers and members, we thank you for your support of the Victorian Region and look forward
to your continued support and assistance.
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Western Australia Region
Chair: Dr Lesley Arnold
Wow! What a Year! With our 5 year lease up at the Nedlands Office, SSSIWA has moved to new premises and now
boasts an address in the centre of the City at 45 St Georges Terrace. With easy access to parking and public
transport, memberare already enjoying the opportunity to hot desk in the City. The new office boasts great shared
facilities including meeting rooms of all sizes, a sound proof room for making podcasts, and an enormous kitchen
which turns into a ‘happening place’ each Friday for after work drinks.
The highlight for 2018-19 was our inaugural Location Intelligence Forum and Exhibition 2018, held at the Perth
Convention and Exhibition Centre in October. The Hon Michelle Roberts MLA, Minister for Police and Road Safety,
officially opened LIFE 2018 – the theme of which was ‘Anything is Possible’. We were fortunate to welcome three
distinguished international speakers –John Kedar (Ordnance Survey UK), Tim Trainor (formally of US Census
Bureau), and Andrew Coote (ConsultingWhere, UK).
With LIFE2018 we took a fresh approach to location tech – focusing on three key topics. Firstly, the Fourth Industrial
Revolution and the sharing economy – here our speakers discussed blockchain technology, artificial intelligence,
augmented reality, drones, machine-learning and digital twins, and what these mean in terms of workforce
transformation and digital disruption. The second topic was about Australia’s place in 21 st Century Asia and the
World. Our presenters talked about Australia’s space industry, Digital Earth Australia, and how local companies are
supporting our neighbouring countries through global partnerships to use spatial information to respond and
recover from disasters, and to work towards sustainable development goals. The third topic was closer to home.
Speakers discussed delivering an efficient WA public sector – engaged with community and local businesses. Our
WA APSEA Dinner was once again a fantastic evening – great food – great company – and great speaker. Tim
Trainor, former Chief Geospatial Scientist, US Census Bureau entertained us with his career journey – the serious
and the humorous sides.
The WA APSEA Awards 2018 for excellence in the surveying and spatial sciences went to Paul Farrell (Professional
of the Year), Dr Grace Yun (Women in Leadership), Aaron Gibson (Young Professional), Jeffrey Ball (Under Graduate
Student), Assoc. Prof. Ahmed Al-Mowafy (Educational Development) and Dr Safoora Zaminpardaz (Postgraduate
Student) who also went on to win the National Postgraduate Student APSEA Award at Locate19. At the WA APSEA
Dinner we also had the honour of congratulating and welcoming three new fellows – Linda Morgan, Kerry Smyth
and Ray Watson for their significant contribution to the Institute and the Profession.
Each year the SSSIWA sponsors the Curtin University Spatial Sciences Awards. This year we congratulated Mitchell
Sage, Karl Paul, Liam Kearney, Sin Lam Lei, Sean Taylor and Dr Safoora Zaminpardaz for their high achievements.
Our advocacy this year focussed on the Leasehold Schemes: Strata Titles Registration Discussion Paper, Review of
the Trial of the Revised Plan Examination Priority and the Management and Seller Discloser Discussion Paper. We
continued to monitor the modernised Work Safety Bill, and Mine Safety and Inspection Act, and accredited courses
for hydrographic Surveying, which are now being offered. Our surveyors’ voices were heard – this year Landgate
reached a milestone – launching the New Map Viewer for Surveyors mid-2019, and yes - it has all the features
cadastral surveyors have wanted for some time.
Our committee has been very active. In addition to our monthly Cadastral Interest Group Meetings and quarterly
Engineering and Mine Surveying Meetings, we held a number of special events, including our regular Industry Golf
Day and Fellows Annual Dinner.
Following on from our first successful Map-a-thon early 2018, we held a second later in the year. The area of focus
was the southern part of India which is currently recovering from the devastation left by cyclone Gaja. The maps
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digitised by our mappers will be validated and used by NGOs to provide aid to the areas which are affected. As a
whole, we were able to map 303 buildings and 268 km of roads! Our top 3 mappers were awarded prizes based on
how many features they digitised. Prizes, lunch and superb venue were provided by our long term supporter NGIS.
We started 2019 with a tour of Optus Stadium from a surveyor’s perspective, followed by networking in the
Coaches’ Room. This event sold out fast and we held another later in the year.
We then celebrated International Women’s day with Guest speaker Geospatial Scientist Mary-Ellen Feeney who
delighted us with a visual experience of her journey to Antarctica with Homeward Bound. Since then other women
in the surveying and geospatial sciences have applied for and been accepted into the Homeward Bound
development program - leaving for Antarctica November 2019.
Our Going Places Seminar this year was supported by EagleView who generously opened their airplane hangar at
Jandakot airport for members and guests. Operations Manager, James Fraticelli discussed the capture and storage
of spatial information, and Land Monitor Chair, Katherine Zdunic followed with a presentation on the Land Monitor
service and how it had grown over the years.
The Curtin Colloquium series for 2018/19 featured Ms Rebecca Ilehag (Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Germany)
who presented on UAV based multimodal remote sensing to assess the energy demand in urban areas; Dr Jacky
C.K. Chow (University of Calgary, Canada) who discussed statistical sensor fusion of a 9-DoF MEMS IMU for indoor
simultaneous locations and mapping; Prof. Dereck Lichti (University of Calgary, Canada) who presented on
recent advances in terrestrial laser scanning – optimal viewpoint placement and object recognition; and Phil
Delaney (FrontierSI, Australia) on the current and future growth opportunities for earth observation in Australia.
Finally, we combined our Office Warming Party with the launch of the 2019 WA Mentoring Program. National YP
Chair Roshni Sharma joined us online to welcome WA mentors and mentees. This program is a huge success with
over 80 mentees nationally. Thanks to C.R. Kennedy the National Sponsor of the Mentoring Program, and to
Nicholas Flett who shared his experiences as a previous YP mentor.
Following on from the success of LIFE 2018, we will be hosting the Location Intelligence Forum and Exhibition 2019.
The venue is to be Optus Stadium - the aptly voted 2019 most beautiful sporting facility in the world. The theme
will be ‘Fly Higher’, and will include our first ever Drone Zone thanks to C.R. Kennedy. LIFE2019 will have three
themes. The first will be around our beautiful city and how spatial information is being used to make it even better.
The second will be on preserving our society, heritage and environment, and the third is about the imperatives for
our industry and what we do next. Our sponsors have already come on board - a big ‘shout out’ to our gold sponsor
CR Kennedy, Silver Sponsor NGIS and Bronze Sponsors 1Spatial, Hexagon, Jacobs, Adam Technology, and Landgate
– thank you - this year is set to be a great success.
I have enjoyed being SSSIWA Chair for the past 2 years, and I feel extremely honoured to have worked with such as
great group of people. Thank you to the WA Regional Management Committee for their immense support. It is
the significant contributions made by WA Regional Management Committee, volunteers, and industry supporters
who have made 2018/19 such as success. The committee have made outstanding contributions this year delivering a program of events that have provided you (our Members) with opportunities to connect, share and
learn. They do this because they are passionate about surveying and spatial sciences – just like you.
We have been fortunate to have the continued support of high calibre presenters for all our events. A big thank to
our speakers, from across the five commissions, for your generosity in giving your time to share your exciting and
varied experiences; and to you ‘our Members’ for your continued support of these events.
As I hand over the baton, I would like to extend personal thanks to Johanna Gastevich (Regional Operations
Manager) for her hard work, dedication, fantastic ideas, humour and importantly her friendship. And finally, thank
you to our partners and sponsors, and to our active members – you make our events shine! We look forward to
your continued support in 2019/2020.
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7. Commission Reports
Engineering and Mining Surveying Commission
Chair: Andrew Edwards
The Engineering and Surveying Commission main focus over the past 12 months has been on Engineering
Surveying Profession (Australasia Pacific) (ESP-AP) Certification. ESP-AP is the specialist certification in Engineering
Surveying that is recognised by SSSI. It essentially recognises a person has demonstrated that he or she has the
necessary knowledge and experience to competently perform engineering surveys and associated activities.
Over the past 12 months, the EMSC has been reviewing the ESP-AP guidelines, speaking to ESP-AP Panel members
about the certification process and discussing ways to increase its adoption.
The EMSC is pleased that Certification is a priority of the SSSI’s strategic roadmap. As a Commission, we have
been concerned with the decline in members achieving ESP-AP certification. Over the past 12 months, only 10
new ESP-AP certifications were achieved by members. This urgently needs to be addressed.
Through the Strategic Roadmap, SSSI aims to:
• RAISE RECOGNITION OF CERTIFICATION VALUE across the full spatial ecosystem: from practitioners, to
member bodies through to sectoral customers & buyers
• EXTEND CERTIFICATION REACH & CREDENTIALS through involvement in immigration assessment programs
• QUALITY CERTIFICATION FRAMEWORK AND PROCESSES which are reliable, timely & effective, assuring a high
quality experience & professional development outcome
EMSC is keen to work with SSSI National Board to improve ESP-AP adoption. Our ultimate aim is to have both
surveying engineers and the market understand the value of ESP-AP certification and to increase its uptake.
Over the next 12 months, EMSC will be looking at ways to work with government and contractors to ensure that
project specifications call to engage mining surveyors that are eligible for accreditation to the level of ESP-AP. It is
market signals such as this that will increase the uptake of ESP-AP certification.
Also, EMSC would like to see the accreditation re-introduce the grandfather clause.
On behalf of the EMSC, I would like to thank the ESP-AP Panel for their assistance in ensuring our profession
remains certified. Also, thank you to all the members of the EMSC for your commitment and contributions over
the past 12 months.
We look forward to working with our profession over the next 12 months and championing the increased uptake
of ESP-AP certification.
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Hydrography Commission
Acting Chair: Simon Ironside
As acting Chair of the Hydrography Commission during (part of) the 2018/19 year, I would like to express the
Commission’s gratitude to outgoing Chair Richard Cullen for his vision, enthusiasm, hard work and good humour.
Richard has stepped down after adroitly leading the Commission for several years and remains a member of the
AHSCP
Hydrography Commission National Committee (HCNC)
I would like to acknowledge the work of members of the HCNC this year. We are all volunteers and HCNC
members have undertaken a considerable amount of work on behalf of the Commission, the Institute and the
wider hydrographic community in Australia, New Zealand and internationally. The 2018/19 HCNC comprises:
Richard Cullen
Chair, NSW (part year)
Simon Ironside
Vice Chair/ Acting Chair NZ
Jasbir Randhawa
Treasurer, NSW
CDRE Fiona Freeman
AHSCP Chair - ex officio
Owen Cantrill
CPD Adr, QLD
Mathieu Bestille
SA
Dylan Colson
Tas
Dave Field
NZ
Paul Kennedy
WA
John Maschke
NT
Celine Roux
QLD
LCDR Wendy Stewart
ACT
Andrew Ternes
Vic
Emily Tidey
Chair S+SNZ Hydrography Professional Stream
Megan Lavender
HC/NSW ROM
Australasian Hydrographic Surveyors Certification Panel (AHSCP)
I would also like to thank the AHSCP for their hard work this year. The AHSCP is the certification arm of the
Commission and one of the SSSI's four specialist certification bodies. It is internationally recognized by the
FIG/IHO/ICA International Board for Standards of Competence (IBSC) as a regional certifier of hydrographic
surveyor competence and is jointly sponsored by SSSI and Survey+Spatial New Zealand (formerly the New Zealand
Institute of Surveyors). The 2018/19 AHSCP comprises:
CDRE Fiona Freeman
Hydrographer of Australia Chair, ex-officio
Martin Castalanelli
Industrial Offshore Surveying
LCDR Nigel Townsend
Nautical Charting
Neil Hewitt
Private Practice
Richard Cullen
Education
Barry Smith
Surveys for Coastal Zone Management
Jasbir Randhawa
Secretary, ex-Officio
Thank you to Vanessa O’Connell (Coastal Zone Management) who stepped down from the Panel earlier this year
for her hard work and dedication to the hydrographic surveying profession.
Commission Work
I would like to express my gratitude to our Commission Sustaining Partners for their invaluable assistance to the
Commission again this year: Precision Hydrographic Services, Hydrographic and Cadastral Survey, BlueZone
Group, iXblue, Queensland Government Department of Environment and Science, Australian Hydrographic Office,
TeledyneCaris and Fugro.
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It has been a steady year for the Commission. As the Chair mentioned in last year’s report, most of our activities
are long timeframe so, when the Commission reports on an outcome, it may be the result of several year’s work
with many hours of volunteer time expended. Work undertaken this year includes:
• The NSW Board of Surveying and Spatial Information (BOSSI) recognition of the Commission’s internationally
accredited certification scheme and ongoing work to get this message out to the NSW surveying community.
Work is ongoing to extend this recognition through the Survey Boards of other states and territories
• Negotiations with the Wollongong TAFE to establish the Diploma of Hydrographic Surveying syllabus is ongoing
• Ongoing engagement with the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) on the re-definition of 311415
Hydrographer in ANZSCO and ANZSIC
• Ongoing review of Surveying Award MA000066 to introduce and reflect the work environment of the
hydrographic surveyor
• Ongoing work on the Commission’s mentoring programme in conjunction with the YP’s
• The HCNC is now operating under its updated Terms of Reference
• Bedding in of the Mutual Recognition Agreement between the SSSI, S+SNZ and the Canadian Hydrographic
Surveyor Certification Scheme that recognises each other’s certification.
• The audit sub-committee overseeing CPD compliance, chaired by the Commission’s CPD Advisor Mr. Owen
Cantrill, is finding its task somewhat hindered due to an inability to access SSSI member records
• The annual face to face planning meeting of the HCNC & AHSCP took place in Gosford NSW in May 2019. The
Commission has agreed that, where possible, future F2F meetings will be held in conjunction with the Locate
conference.
• At the suggestion of the AHSCP, the HCNC has approved an update to the Registered Hydrographers List to
include SSSI (or other) membership designations and specialisms.
AHSCP Work
• A review of the AHSCP Guidelines including an amended definition of at-sea time was completed and sent to
the IBSC for approval in June 2019
• Re-introduction of certification sub-specialism assessment. The first assessment under the new guideline
occured in June 2018.
• The Panel continues to struggle with applicants who are providing a record of survey as the client wants them
rather than being aware of the need to demonstrate their knowledge and methodologies to the AHSCP.
• The AHSCP submitted its application for re-recognition and its 2018 Report to the IBSC at their 42nd meeting
held in Honolulu, Hawaii from 25 March to 5 April 2019.
The Panel met five times during the period to assess applications via tele-conferences and met face to face at the
annual planning meeting of the AHSCP and HCNC held in Gosford, NSW on 2-3 May 2019.
The Panel assessed a total of 22 applicants during the year, of which:
• 11 applicants were assessed for Level 1, of which 4 were awarded certification, 2 were required to be
interviewed the by Panel and 5 applications were deferred with the applicants required to furnish additional
information.
• 10 applicants were assessed for Level 2, of which 7 were awarded certification, 2 applications were deferred
with the applicants required to furnish additional information and 1 applicant was unsuccessful.
• 1 applicant applied for recertification at Level 1 and was successful
It is with sadness that we record the passing of Mr. Ian Halls earlier this year. Ian had only joined the HCNC as
NSW rep at the Gosford F2F meeting in May and his sudden passing was a shock to us all. Ian was an experienced
and well-respected hydrographic surveyor as well as a friendly and well-liked person who was looking forward to
giving back to the profession through his work with the Commission. He will be missed by all his colleagues and
friends and of course his family.
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Land Surveying Commission
Chair: Lindsay Perry
The Land Surveying Commission has managed to have two face to face meetings this year at Locate and SEASC, as
well as teleconferences.
We have also supported and participated in the continuation of a National Surveyors Discussion Forum with the
professional surveying bodies, ISNSW, ISV and SSSI. S&SNZ also participated in the last meeting and it is
anticipated that an annual face to face meeting of these groups be held at Locate each year. Some of the matters
of mutual interest currently under discussion include the support of the objectives of the SSSI YPs Mentoring
Program and encouragement of more surveyors to participate as mentors. We also probing the misperceptions
with the awarding of Cadastral CPD points, that cadastral matters do not cross state and international boundaries,
when in fact many of the principles are similar; it is the details where the differences lie.
The National Electronic Lodgement Network (PEXA) and the moves to 100% digital lodgement of land
transactions, is still causing some restrictions on documents formerly able to be signed by surveyors. We will
continue to identify the appropriate avenues to make further representations.
With the implementation of GDA 2020, as Australia’s official datum, local regional groups with the assistance of
the ICSM GDA working group have continued to provide support to stakeholders. The Young Professionals are
also holding a series of four national webinars in conjunction with Geoscience Australia on the various elements
of Australia’s Geospatial Reference System.
Land Registry Privatisations
With the NSW, SA and Vic Land Registry’s previously being subject to varying forms of commercialisation, WA has
now followed during the year, with partial privatisation of its Land Registry through an entity known as Land
Services WA
The WA Government has retained the ownership and responsibility for the state’s land titles register and other
data and Landgate continues to operate as a statutory authority, maintaining the existing security, privacy and
integrity of the land titles register. Under the terms of the sale, increases in fees charged by Land Services WA will
be capped at the rate of CPI.
Overseas Qualifications Assessment
SSSI is the professional body appointed under the Migration Act to evaluate overseas qualification assessments
for surveyors on behalf of the Federal Government’s Department of Education, Employment and Workplace
Relations.
International Federation of Surveyors (F.I.G)
The FIG Working Week this year was held in Hanoi from 22-26 April, hosted by the Vietnamese Association of
Geodesy, Cartography and Remote Sensing. With around 1,000 participants from 90 countries, over 300 papers
were presented in 80 technical sessions.
A task force on Sustainable Development Goals (SDG’s) was launched to focus on how the SDG’s relate to the
surveying profession. Commission work plans were presented and there were sessions with institutional partners
such as FAO, UN-Habitat/GLTN, UN-GGIM and the World Bank, while other sessions were on specific topics, some
to support FIG Task Forces.
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Australia currently has representatives chairing two commissions Assoc Professor David Mitchell chairs
Commission 2 Professional Education and Daniel Paez is Chair of Commission 7 Cadastre and Land Management.
Rob Sarib Chairs the FIG Asia/Pacific Capacity Development Network and we also have a number of participants in
the working groups of each of the ten FIG Commissions.
South East Asian Survey Conference (SEASC 2019)
SEASC will be held in Darwin on 15-18 August and is jointly hosted by ASEAN Flag and SSSI. This is the first time
the event has been held in Australia since Fremantle in 1999. The theme of the conference is Collaboration,
Communication and Capacity Building in the 21st Century.
Over 400 surveyors from across the Asia Pacific region are expected to attend this international event,
which focuses on how the surveying industry remains relevant to the needs of society through working
collaboratively to meet the future technical, social and environmental challenges in digitally connected
surroundings.
SEASC 2019 is a wonderful opportunity for all surveyors in the Asia Pacific region to demonstrate leadership in
their field, share knowledge and network; it has laid the foundation for a new mode of engagement with our
neighbours in the Asia-Pacific. Congratulations to Lee Helen and Rob Sarib and their team for organising the
event.
Locate Conferences
LSC anticipates this momentum from SEASC will continue in to Locate 20 in Brisbane next year. We will see the
development of Locate conferences to become increasingly surveyor friendly as the principal national surveying
conference.
Global Surveyors Day
The 21st March each year has been declared Global Surveyors' Day, in order to highlight the importance of
surveyors, their job and the areas they work in. Most regions held a special event to celebrate Global Surveyors
Day this year and we anticipate this will continue next year.
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Remote Sensing and Photogrammetry Commission
Chair: Petra Helmholz
This commission is devoted to the development and management of remote sensing and photogrammetry
professionalism and their applications in Australia. The main objectives are:
• To work towards the continued recognition of the RS&P commission for excellence in professional
development and representation of the Australian remote sensing and photogrammetry community.
• To provide the remote sensing and photogrammetry community with relevant professional development and
representation
• To represent Australia in the International Remote Sensing and Photogrammetry Communities. In particular,
to manage relationships with and contributing to The International Society for Photogrammetry and Remote
Sensing (ISPRS) and the Asian Association on Remote Sensing (AARS)
We are also pleased to announce that our memberships with the Asian Association on Remote Sensing (AARS)
and the International Society of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing (ISPRS) have been renewed. As an ordinary
member to ISPRS, the RSP committee members voted on a number of ballots in 2018/19. The major ISPRS event,
ISPRS congress, is coming up next year in June and will take place in Nice, France.
The 39th Asian Conference on Remote Sensing was held in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, from the 15th - 19th October,
2018. Dr Bruce Forster, Honorary Secretary of the Remote Sensing and Photogrammetry Commission of SSSI,
attended as the Australian delegate and was a Chairman and invited speaker of the second plenary session,
Wealth Creation and Prosperity.

Image: Dr Bruce Forster, Honorary Secretary of the Remote
Sensing and Photogrammetry Commission of SSSI, attended
as the Australian delegate the 39th Asian Conference on
Remote Sensing.

The RS&P commission is proud to support the South East Asian Surveying Conference (SEASC) in Darwin in August
19. A sub-committee of the SSSI RSP commission has reviewed all abstracts which have been submitted in the
field of RSP to the SEASC Darwin conference and will hand out two awards during the conference dinner. The
majority of the work for the congress preparation took place in the financial year 2018/19.
Furthermore, we can report that our commission members Prof Clive Fraser became Honour Fellow of SSSI and
Mark Shortis Fellow of SSSI.
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RS&P content was an important aspect not just at the national LOCATE conference but also at the State
conferences. Talks about RSP related topics were presented to our members through:
• Dipak Paudyal who represented RSP and presented as a speaker session during Locate 19 in Melbourne,
• Kourosh Khoshelham who introduce the audience into “Real-time information extraction from
• CCTV images for intelligent transport management” during the SSSI Victoria Surveying and Spatial Summit on

Friday 5 October in Melbourne,
• Peter Kinne from DigitalGlobe Australia who talked about “New Constellations, New Capabilities, and the 4th
Industrial Revolution” at the Location Intelligence Forum & Exhibition (LIFE) 2018 on Friday, 19 October 2018
in Perth,
• Aria Colton (Founder and CEO of the National Space Innovation Hub) who presented about “Democratising
Space” at the Spatial Information Day in Adelaide on Friday, 26 October 2018.
Next to the representation at these conferences, the RSP group contributed to further national CPD events such
as:
• During the NSW RFS SSSI Fire Mapping Workshop in partnership with Geoscience Australia, close to 100
practitioners and academics from every state and territory coming together to share and discuss methods and
analysis techniques to map fires from imagery. The successful event took place on Wed., 14 November 2018,
from 8:30 am – 5:00 pm AEDT, at the Novotel Wollongong Northbeach.
• The SSSI Victoria Remote Measurement Seminar and Field Day took place on Friday, 16 November 2018 at
Boxhill City Oval and included topics related on CASA RPA’s rules, Privacy Issues with Remote Measurement,
RS application related to Forest Ecosystems, Hand-Held Laser Scanners, Scan-to-BIM Technology and
networking opportunities.
• Mary-Ellen Feeney talked about Homeward Bound year, and more specific about spatial sciences in monitoring
ecology, ice sheets and the different remote sensing and photogrammetry techniques can bring during a
number of events (Nov 18 NSW SSSI Conference, Feb 19 NSW SSSI WiS, March 19 WA WiS, March/April 19 YP
Webinar, SID 19 25 Oct)
The RSP group member Dipak Paudyal, is a member of the Locate20 organizing committee and represents SSSI
RSP during the Locate organizing committee meetings. In this function he actively encourage more participation
from the RSP stream such as in the form of pre-conference workshop during the event!
There will be also a stronger representation of RSP talks at state conferences.
Finally, the next Geo-information for Disaster Management (Gi4DM) will be held in Sydney in December 2020.
Gi4DM is an annual conference devoted to the use and application of geo-information technology in disaster
management. Considering the number of disasters Australia faces, starting at fire, over droughts to flooding due
to rainfall events or cyclones, and also earthquakes the topic of the workshop is especially relevant for
Australians. The next conference will take place in Sydney and the event will be supported by SSSI.
An exciting year is behind us, but the coming year promised to be even more packed with activities such as a
strong RSP stream at Locate in Brisbane in April 2020, the Gi4DM conference in Sydney in December 2020, and
also the Earth Observation Australia conference in Brisbane in September 2020. A big thank to all of the
volunteers who helped and supported the RSP commission, and a special thanks to the national board members:
Bruce Forester (NSW), Renee Bartolo (NT), Chris Bellman (VIC), Mary-Ellen Feeney (NSW), Warwick Hehir (NSW),
Petra Helmhlz (WA, chair), Peter Kinne (QLD), Tyson Hillyard (SA), Dipak Paudyal (QLD), Charity Mundava (NSW)
and our officers Imogen Craig (SA) and Su-Ling Meimaris (VIC).
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Spatial Information and Cartography Commission
Chair: Kerry Smyth
This past year has been a steadying year with unfolding strategic change that continues to stretch our limited
support services. Fortunately, the new SSSI website has provided better access to Geo-message and event
registration. Looking forward we have opportunities to build and communicate the value to our members of
certification and international connections.
There were several changes to the committee due to people moving and taking on new roles, including Zaffar's
election to SSSI President. This impacted the established committee, however, while under-represented in all
states, the committee has moved forward with a number of initiatives. These initiatives lay the groundwork for
building connections and recognition and value for the members in the following years.
SICC has taken leadership to cement a partnership for SSSI with the inaugural FOSS4G SotM Oceania 2018, held at
Melbourne University in November 2018. We have also contributed to the SSSI Strategic Road Map 2018-21
through the leadership forum and several rounds of feedback.
The SSSI-URISA Exchange Program continued this year with Nicholas Flett (MSSSI) recipient of the SSSI WA Travel
Grant, attending the URISA GIS Leadership Academy in Salt Lake City, July 23-27 2018 and Teresa Townsend
visiting Australia in April 2019 coinciding with Locate19 in Melbourne.
The GISP-AP Certification process is on track with Panel Chair Brendan Henry and his team of assessors
monitoring turn-around-times. We have also made headway in revitalising direction for the GISP-AP, such as the
Body of Knowledge M2. Looking forward the SICC aims to revisit and update the 2007 MoU with GIS Certification
Institute.
During 2018-19 SICC has:
● Welcomed 83 new members (approx. 45% being student)
● Certified 9 new GISP-APs and renewed 1 existing (currently registered 65)
● Contributed to Locate 19 and State Conferences.
● Promoted Spatial Excellence Awards through nominations and judging.
● Collaborated with YP and WIS groups.
● Prepared social media proposals for GISP-AP and news
● Provide CPD opportunities, FOSS4G, URISA workshop
● Fostered FOSS4G in Wellington, NZ.
● Initiated a bid for ICA 2023.
SICC lead SSSI’s partnering with the inaugural Free and Open Source Software for Geospatial and State of the Map
Oceania 2018 Conference (FOSS4G SotM Oceania 2018), held at Melbourne University in November 2018. SSSI’s
share of the earnings was $25,323, while the remainder provided seed capital for the next conference in
Wellington, NZ, November 2019.
State Conferences were held in all regions and were well supported by our commission members and volunteers
contributing to the diversity and relevance for the wider community. The Spatial Excellence Awards were also
well represented by nominations and winners from SICC being elevated through to the national level APSEA at
Locate19 in Melbourne, April 2019. My congratulations to the winners. Linda Morgan and I were also recognised
as Fellows of SSSI.
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SICC held an URISA Master Class Workshop Actionable Geospatial Data and Tools to Protect Our Climate Future at
the Locate19 Melbourne in April to coincide with the visit of URISA Exchange candidate Teresa Townsend from
USA. Teresa, the immediate past president of URISA, conducted the training, demonstrating cross discipline skills
for collaboration through GIS, climate change and community resiliency.
At Locate19 SICC hosted a hospitality lunch for the URISA Exchange, including the Exchange Alumni giving the
opportunity for robust discussion, networking and reinforcing the SSSI-URISA relationship.
The commission’s vision and strategy is developed at the institute level, while most events occur locally. As such
the national committee plans to increase support and collaboration for the local chapters’ events. In particular,
targeting our members, unfolding technologies, emerging trends and aimed at engaging the wider community.
Designed to form part of the SSSI national event calendar with raised market profile and promotion. This will also
be supported by increased promotion of SICC professionals and projects through the ramp up of the social media
campaigns.
During the upcoming year we will focus and revitalise international relationships with particular emphasis on:
● New Zealand counterparts
● URISA MoU
● GIS Certification Institute (GISCI)
● International Cartographic Association (ICA)
● Revisiting and updating the 2007 MoU with GIS Certification Institute.
Locate20 in Brisbane promises to be a top event, so to encourage SICC members we plan to host a lunch-time
general meeting of the commission and provide network opportunities for the URISA exchange alumni to share
their experiences. Plans are underway to leverage the gathering of SICC members for events around the
conference, including a pre-conference masterclass or other opportunities to be scheduled.
Feedback from Kerry Smyth (FSSSI) URISA Exchange Delegate who will attend the URISA GIS-Pro 2019 Conference
in New Orleans.
In conclusion, I wish to sincerely thank 2018-19 Commission Sustaining Partners, whose contribution throughout
the year has continued to support our capacity to deliver SICC events and strategic initiatives. I would also like to
acknowledge and thank the Universities and TAFEs around Australia, for their in-kind support across many of our
activities, not least by introducing the next generation of spatial scientists to their professional membership
association. I would like to acknowledge and thank our national committee who have committed to various
portfolio responsibilities during the year.
Angus Scown (Qld)
Georgina Cassar (SA)
David Kelly (Vic)
Kerry Smyth (WA)
Nikolas Kostraby (NSW)
And in retrospect the work done by outgoing committee members.
Nicholas Middleton (WA)
Raelene Forbes (NSW)
Andrew Bashfield (Vic)
Mary Lewitzka (SA)
Robert Driessen (Tas)
Adam Socak (Qld)
Hanno Klahn (NSW)
Shaik Mohamed Zaffar Sadiq Mohamed-Ghouse (NSW & ACT)
Finally, on behalf of the Spatial Information & Cartography Commission National Committee, I extend thanks to all
SSSI-SICC members who continue to engage, support and participate in a full range of activities, and give us frank
and fearless feedback on ways to improve and develop. We welcome and sincerely value your input. We also
acknowledge the considerable contribution of national and regional staff in particular our executive Katie Le
Miere and Imogen Craig.
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8. Special Interest Group
Young Professionals
Chair: Roshni Sharma
This year, the SSSI Young Professionals have more clearly defined who we are and what we do – we provide
valuable services to student and young professional members to provide a foundation for their transition into the
workforce and in establishing their early career development pathway as successfully as possible and provide
quality services to increase membership in these areas. We do this through three key areas:
1. Being a trusted hub for professional development, networking and opportunities: Ensuring transparent and
informative communication to students and young professionals within the spatial and surveying sciences
industry and opportunities for professional development.
2. Providing relevant and useful services: Increase accessibility of services to students (undergraduate,
postgraduate, diploma, certificate) and early-mid career professionals working in the industry through a range
of regional and national events and initiatives available in face to face and online formats.
3. Being a consistent, stable and reliable foundation for career support: Providing a trusted foundation that will
be of value to professionals in the industry throughout their career, from the beginning of their career.
This year has seen a transformation in the way that the SSSI Young Professionals operate, bringing in a wave of
energy in getting our house in stronger order through strategic planning to clearly define our identity, our goals,
our aims and our objectives. This has enabled us to streamline our efforts with events and initiatives, targeting
them to reach the audience we want to help and tailoring them to create the largest impact on the ground for the
betterment of the industry’s present and future.
We have accelerated our efforts in communications about what we are doing and why we bring value to our
members through vibrant monthly GeoMessages and YP Newsletters and engaging content in Position Magazine.
We have also strengthened our connections with Australian tertiary educational institutions, with a network of
over 100 contacts at institutions all around Australia helping us to reach students and graduates alike to support
them in their transition into the industry.
Of special note are the immense success of the SSSI National Young Professionals Mentoring Program, the SSSI
Monthly Career Development Webinar series, and the Locate19 Young Professionals Symposium.
The 2018 NYP Mentoring Program was a huge success, with excellent feedback from all regions and both mentors
and mentees. A total of 82 participants graduated from the program, and the 2019 program kicked off at the end
of the 2017-2018 financial year with almost 250 participants, a 300% growth in program participation. It is clear
that there is a huge demand for intergenerational exchange of knowledge, skills, ideas and inspiration, with
mentors increasingly realizing that they have a lot to give, and mentees willing and ready to hear stories, learn
lessons and action advice. The mentoring program course content provides a strong and structured program
focusing on soft skills and STEM skills, which are in urgent need for our industry as we embrace advancements
and new developments in technology.
The SSSI Monthly Career Development webinar series has sustained and grown engagement with young
professionals across the nation, in particular offering the ability for those located in regional areas to engage with
technological developments and to build soft skills. This webinar series has seen a regular attendance and is one
of the ways we aim to deliver low-cost, accessible and relevant value to our members.
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This year also saw the inaugural Young Professionals Symposium at Locate19, which was the first domino in a
series that has triggered an active presence of and about young professionals in regional and national
conferences across Australia. The Locate19 YPS was accompanied by an engaging and vibrant session about
Young Professionals at the Locate19 Hub, and the learnings of these events has been consolidated into the SSSI
Young Professionals Locate19 White Paper, available at https://sssi.org.au/sssi-community/special-interestgroups/young-professionals/yp-white-papers.
2019/2020 brings with it a continuation of the energy and enthusiasm that 2017/2018 has built. The SSSI National
Young Professionals Mentoring Program is blowing us all out of the water and we are planning ways to make it
bigger and better in 2020. The SSSI National Young Professionals Monthly Career Development Webinar Series is
set to reach new heights with a free four-part series in conjunction with ICSM about the Upgrades to Australian
Geospatial Reference System which is sure to be in high demand. We will also bring you exciting young
professionals’ events at the South East Asia Survey Congress and Locate20, as well as have a stronger presence at
the SSSI regional conferences across Australia and a host of regional face to face events across the course of the
year.
The SSSI Young Professionals continue to seek to be a pivotal connection point between students and industry,
helping young professionals to gain the skills, confidence and networks that they need for early career success.
Our work would not be possible without the support of the SSSI Board, Peter Olah as CEO, the staff and ROMs of
SSSI. Most importantly, we would not be able to achieve the impact we have without the network of academics at
the Australian tertiary institutions we interface with, the business owners and leaders in the industry who are
willing to give young professionals and students a chance to grow and spread their wings, and the generosity and
support of our sponsors. We look forward to an increasable next 12 months!
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9. Sustaining Partners
GOLD PARTNERS

Access the most valuable imagery and data-derived tools to make your vision a reality.
DigitalGlobe, a Maxar Technologies company, is an industry leader in satellite imagery and geospatial intelligence,
serving a spectrum of industries across government, nonprofit, and commercial sectors. Our portfolio of imagery
products and analytics simplifies access to critical information about our changing planet -- empowering
customers to answer complex questions that impact environments, economies, and lives.
See what’s possible www.maxar.com

Position Magazine and Spatial Source are proud to be continuing as Gold Sustaining Partners with SSSI to
strengthen professionalism and technical knowledge across Australasia.
SpatialSource.com.au continues to reach a wider audience, cementing its place as the leading source for industry
news in the region and it now competes internationally. Industry professionals depend on the free weekly
newsletter to help them make sense of a rapidly evolving industry landscape. Redesigned in 2016, the Spatial
Source website gives visitors even more industry news and commentary, and features rich video, animation, and
web maps.
Spatial Source is accompanied by its widely regarded print counterpart Position magazine. Published six times a
year, Position has been informing and educating readers for more than 25 years. Subscription is available to all
and is included with SSSI membership. Position is now available in both print and digital, widening its reach and
offering readers the convenience of multiple platforms.
Together, the two publications are the best means to help SSSI-affiliated organisations better communicate with
their industry. For a small team looking to share their achievements or a multinational product and service
provider trying to reach the ANZ market, Position magazine and Spatial Source are the keys to accessing the
surveying and spatial sectors.
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Bronze Partners

From our beginnings as Herga 130 years ago this year to today, UPG is on the cutting edge of its field.
For over a century, we’ve been helping organisations throughout the South Pacific gather, analyse and
use geospatial date. From the outback to the cities to remote sites in Papua New Guinea, UPG works
with world leading technology suppliers to deliver solutions made to meet our clients’ needs across
such industries as land surveying, construction, utilities and local government, mining, waste
management, and field services management.
LISTECH was founded in 1988 with the vision of creating world class software solutions specifically
designed to solve the complex problems associated with surveying and engineering. Today this vision
remains the same and LISTECH is a world leader in the development of innovative and internationally
successful software products for the surveying, civil engineering and land related information Our
software products are marketed and supported worldwide with a large and rapidly growing user base
extending to over one hundred countries.
Photomapping are the spatial information specialists. Experts in a broad range of geospatial
disciplines, our experienced teams of professionals provide cost effective, tailored solutions of the
highest quality for any project. Our company is involved in all aspects of acquisition, production,
presentation and the management of geospatial data and can provide services to any client, large or
small. Our range of cutting edge remote sensing technologies, modern twin-engine aircraft and
dedicated flight crews can respond to aerial LiDAR and Digital Photography requests throughout
Australia, Asia and Pacific region.

Education Partner
TAFE NSW continues to enjoy a sustaining partnership with SSSI. As one of Australia’s foremost
providers of spatial and surveying training via face to face and blended education, we have very
much benefited from the exposure that SSSI has provided us. TAFE NSW is undergoing an exciting
modernisation program that aims for a sustainable and innovative future, to provide higher quality learning and training for
our students. As part of this modernisation program our spatial and surveying programs in Ultimo, Newcastle, Wollongong
and the National Environment Centre are working closely together to deliver high quality surveying and spatial
qualifications. We offer face to face and blended courses to meet the needs of our students, our blended options enable
students to work in the industry gaining valuable workplace experience while studying.
TAFE NSW is proud to equip our spatial and surveying students with practical skills and work experience so they’re ready to
hit the ground running in their chosen field. It’s very gratifying for TAFE NSW staff to watch these students grow and
transform their lives through education. We continue to experience good enrolments in our nationally accredited Certificate
III, Certificate IV and Diploma qualifications in both Surveying and Spatial Information Services. We also offer a variety of
Statement of Attainment short courses including: GIS Essentials, Drone Essentials, Drones in Agriculture and GIS Analysis and
Problem Solving. We have students across Australia and offer training to meet any organisation’s or individual’s needs. We
have established and maintain strong industry relationships with local, regional, state and national bodies which are
fundamental to validating the quality of our learning and assessment resources. Our teachers bring strong industry
experience having worked in private enterprise, Federal, State and Local Government agencies. This all combines to provide
students with an innovative and engaging learning experience. We look forward to a continued relationship with SSSI into
2019 and beyond.
We also welcome expressions of interest from experienced individuals from the spatial and surveying industry who are
interested in teaching.
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10. Financial Report
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
Your directors present their report on the financial report of Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute
Limited (the Institute) for the year ended 30 June 2019.
Directors
The following persons are Directors of the Institute at the date of this
report:
Zaffar Mohamed-Ghouse
Paul Digney
Franco Rea
Kerry Smyth
Lee Hellen
Richard Syme
Rob Sarib
Richard Cullen
Wayne Patterson

President
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

All directors are participants in the spatial industry in Australia.
During the financial year ended 30 June 2019, thirteen meetings of Directors were held. Set out
below are details of each person that was a director during the financial period, the number of
meetings attended by each directors and number of meetings each director was eligible to attend.

Directors during the year and at 30 June 2019:
Gaby van Wyk
President
Zaffar Mohamed-Ghouse
Director
Paul Digney
Director
Franco Rea
Director
Kerry Smyth
Director
Lee Hellen
Director
Richard Syme
Director
Rob Sarib
Director
Richard Cullen
Director
Wayne Patterson
Director
Jonathan Saxon (Company Secretary)

Eligible
to
Attend
2
13
13
13
13
13
13
13
13
11
13

Attendance
2
11
10
10
12
12
12
6
8
4
-

Activities
The principal activity of the Institute during the year ended 30 June 2019 was to provide the
membership framework for spatial professionals to practise and thereby serve the needs of the
spatial community.
Results & Review of Operations
The net result of operations of the Institute or the year ended 30 June 2019 was an operating deficit
of $500,646 (2018 deficit of $281,903)
Directors' Benefits
No director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the
Institute or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he/she is a member, or with
a company in which he/she has a substantial financial interest.
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Indemnification of Officers and Directors
The Institute has not, during or since the close of the financial year, in respect of any person who is
or has been an officer or auditor of the Institute or related corporate entity:
i.

indemnified or made any relevant agreement for indemnifying against a liability incurred as an
officer or auditor including costs and expenses in successfully defending legal proceedings; or

ii.

paid or agreed to pay a premium in respect of a contract insuring against a liability incurred as
an officer or auditor for the costs or expenses to defend legal proceedings.

Signed at this twenty first day of October 2019
in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

…………………………………………………
Director

…………………………………………………
Director
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION
The directors declare that:
1.

the financial statements and notes required by accounting standards comply with accounting
standards and the Corporations Act 2001;

2.

the financial statements and notes gives a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30
June 2019 and performance of the Institute for year ended on that date; and

3.

in the opinion of the directors, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Institute will be
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due and payable.

Signed at this twenty first day of October, 2019
in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

…………………………………………………
Director

…………………………………………………
Director
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019
Note

2019
$
603,438
70,072
237,256
910,766

2018
$
1,220,599
187,210
103,218
1,511,027

7

635,000
635,000
1,545,766

635,000
635,000
2,146,027

8
9
10
11

131,057
266,647
1,572
399,275

43,409
453,910
1,570
498,890

399,275

498,890

NET ASSETS

1,146,491

1,647,137

EQUITY
Retained surplus

1,146,491

1,647,137

TOTAL EQUITY

1,146,491

1,647,137

Retained
Earnings
(500,646)
1,647,137

Retained
Earnings
(281,903)
1,929,040

1,146,491

1,647,137

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Plant and equipment
TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables
Current tax payable
Unearned revenue
Money held in trust
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

4
5
6

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Net surplus for the year
Retained Earnings at beginning of year
Balance at 30 June 2019
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
Note
Revenue from ordinary activities
Staffing costs
Occupancy costs
Events and administrative costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Income tax expense relating to ordinary
activities
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income attributable to
members

2

2019
$
1,399,846
(862,469)
(551,110)
(486,913)
-

2018
$
1,413,137
(802,987)
(569,650)
(322,403)
-

(500,646)

(281,903)

-

-

(500,646)

(281,903)

1,322,569
(1,946,882)
7,152

1,551,130
(1,713,940)
9,516

(617,160)

(153,293)

-

-

-

-

(617,160)
1,220,599
603,438

(153,293)
1,373,892
1,220,599

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from members and customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities

17(b)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

17(a)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute Limited applies Australian Accounting Standards –
Reduced Disclosure Requirements as set out in AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian
Accounting Standards and AASB 2010–2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising
from Reduced Disclosure Requirements.
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The company is a
not-for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would
result in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events
and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements
are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.
The financial report covers the Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute Limited as an individual
entity. Surveying and Spatial Science Institute Limited is a company limited by guarantee,
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The financial reports incorporates the income, expenses,
assets and liabilities of State and Territory regions which are not separately incorporated.
The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals
basis and are based on historical costs. The amounts presented in the financial statements have
been rounded to the nearest dollar.
(a)

Income Tax
The institute is a not-for-profit organization and only pays tax on non-member income. This
year the institute made a Loss of $282,928 from non-member related activity. Therefore no
income tax was applied to the account for 2018-2019 FY. Moreover, as the institute brought
forward tax losses $281,838 from previous years, total Tax losses of $564,766 will be carried
forward to next FY.

(b)

Property, Plant and Equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less, where applicable, any
accumulated depreciation.
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually by the Company to
ensure it is not in excess of the remaining service potential of these assets.
Property, plant and equipment purchases with a cost of less than $500 are expensed in the
period of purchase.
All classes of property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight line method.
Depreciation is charged at the following rates:
Class of fixed assets

Rates

Furniture, plant and equipment

10% - 40%

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c)

Financial Instruments
Recognition
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction
costs, when the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition
these instruments are measured as set out below.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.
Held-to-maturity investments
These investments have fixed maturities, and it is the company’s intention to hold these
investments to maturity. Any held-to-maturity investments held by the company are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt
less principal payments and amortisation.

(d)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks or
financial institutions.

(e)

Employee Benefits
Provision is made for the company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services
rendered by employees to balance date. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled
within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is
settled, plus related on costs. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those
benefits.
Contributions are made by the company to employees’ superannuation funds and are charged
as expenses when incurred.

(f)

Leases
Leases of fixed assets where substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the company, are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised recording an asset and a liability
equal to the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual
values. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease
interest expense for the period.
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with
the lessor, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(g)

Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in
presentation in this financial report.

(h)

Revenue and expense recognition
The Institute's membership subscription year runs from 1 July to 30 June. Only the membership
fees and subscription receipts which are attributable to the current financial year are recognised
as revenue.
Operational grants are recognised as revenue progressively over the period of the grant.
Operational grants received in respect of future financial years are recognised as income
received in advance (liabilities, unearned revenue).
Project grants are recognised as revenue to the extent that the monies have been applied in
accordance with the conditions of the grant. Project grants received prior to the year-end but
unexpended as at that date are recognised as unexpended project grants (liabilities, unearned
revenue).
Conference and seminar income is recognised as revenue on completion of the event. Income
received prior to the holding of the event is recognised as income received in advance
(liabilities, unearned income). Expenses incurred prior to the event are recognised as deferred
costs (other current assets). Where a professional conference organisers ("PCO") is used, only
the net income/expense is recognised in the income statement. Advances of seed money paid
to PCO’s and the balance of any surplus receivable for completed events are recognised as
amounts receivable for events (receivables).
Publications sales are recognised upon delivery of goods to the customer.
Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the
customer.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

(i)

Impairment
At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's
fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. As a
not-for-profit entity, value in use for the company, according to AASB 136 Impairment of Assets,
is depreciated replacement cost. Any excess of the asset's carrying value over its recoverable
amount is expensed to the income statement.

(j)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based
on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a
reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data,
obtained both externally and within the Company.
Key estimates - Impairment
The Company assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to
the Company that may lead to impairment of assets. Should an impairment indicator exist, the
determination of the recoverable amount of the asset may require incorporation of a number of
key estimates. No impairment indicators were present at 30 June 2019.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
Note 2: Revenue
(a) Revenues
Operating activities:
Membership Fees
Sustaining Partner Income
Conference & other seminar fees
Certification & Qualification assessment
Publication sales
Locate Conference Service Fee
Management Fees
Interest
Rent
Other
Total Revenue
Note 3: Income tax expense
Income tax expense relating to ordinary
activities
Note 4: Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and at bank
Cash on hand

2019
$

2018
$

559,986
102,064
542,424
85,399
21,352
50,660
18,200
7,152
9,000
3,610
1,399,846

-

569,434
137,128
458,345
80,529
24,937
102,284
18,200
9,516
5,000
7,763
1,413,137

-

603,138
300
603,438

1,220,299
300
1,220,599

70,072
70,072

187,210
187,210

Note 6: Other current assets
Prepayments and deferred events costs

237,256

103,218

Note 7: Property, plant and equipment
Property, Furniture, plant and equipment – at cost
Accumulated depreciation
Total Property, Plant and Equipment

635,000
635,000

635,000
635,000

Note 5: Receivables
CURRENT
Trade debtors

(a) Movement in the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and
the end of the current financial year
Opening Balance
Additions
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Closing Balance

635,000
635,000

635,000
635,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
2019
$
Note 8: Payables
CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities:
Creditors and accrued expenses
Other Payables

108,361
22,695
131,057

40,212
3,197
43,409

-

-

157,139
13,190
57,811
38,507
266,647

264,249
96,797
44,029
48,837
453,910

12
1,560
1,572

12
1,558
1,570

Note 9: Current tax assets and liabilities
CURRENT
Current tax payable
Note 10: Unearned revenue
CURRENT
Members fees in advance
Sustaining Partner Income in Advance
Conference income received in advance
Sponsorship Credit

2018
$

Note 11: Money held in trust
Mouat Tree project Holding Account
Other Project Holding Account

Note 12: Employee information
The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised and included in the financial report is as follows:
CURRENT
Payables (Note 8)
4,742
4,126
Aggregate employee benefit liability
4,742
4,126
Number of employees at year end

12

Note 13: Company details
(a) Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute Limited represents members in the field of spatial
information in Australia.
(b) The registered office and the principal place of business of the institute is 1st Floor, National
Surveyors House, 27-29 Napier Close, Deakin ACT 2600
(c) The Institute is a company limited by guarantee (ACN 135 572 815)
On the winding up of the Institute each member is required to contribute up to $20.00 per member
to meet any outstanding liabilities of the Institute.

9
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
Note 14: Key management personnel
(a) Details of Key Management Personnel
Names and positions held of key management personnel in office at any time during the financial
year are:
(i) Directors of Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute Limited
Gaby van Wyk
Zaffar Mohamed-Ghouse
Paul Digney
Franco Rea
Kerry Smyth
Lee Hellen
Richard Syme
Rob Sarib
Richard Cullen
Wayne Patterson

President
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

(ii) Executives
Peter Olah

General Manager / Secretary

(b) Compensation of Key Management Personnel
Short-term
benefits
2019
Total compensation (Peter Olah)

$
170,458

Post
employment
benefits
$
16,150

Total

$
186,608

The directors did not receive any remuneration directly or indirectly from the Company or any related
body corporate for management of the Company, other than reimbursements of expenses incurred
on behalf of the Company.
The directors did not receive any remuneration directly or indirectly from the Company or any related
body corporate for management of the Company, other than reimbursements of expenses incurred
on behalf of the Company.
Note 15: Related Parties
No related parties applied
Note 16: Auditors' remuneration
Remuneration of the auditor for:
Auditing the financial report

2019
$
7,700
7,700

2018
$
6,600
6,600
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
2019
$

2018
$

Note 17: Cash flow information
(a) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is
represented by the following items:
Cash assets
603,438
(b) Reconciliation of net cash relating to operating activities to net surplus
Net surplus
Non-cash flows in operating surplus:
Depreciation and amortisation
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in other current assets
Increase/(Decrease) in payables
Increase/(Decrease) in unearned revenue
Increase/(Decrease) in money held in trust
Net cash relating to operating activities

1,220,599

(500,646)
-

(281,903)
-

117,138
(134,038)
87,648
(187,264)
1
(617,160)

(132,628)
4,860
(23,760)
332,575
(52,438)
(153,293)

Note 18: Cash flow information (continued)
(c) Restricted Cash
There is no restricted Cash
Note 19: Subsequent Events
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly
effects the operations of the Company.
Note 20: Financial Instruments

Non-Interest Bearing
Fixed Interest Maturing - 1 Year or less
Fixed Interest Maturing - 1 to 2 Years
Fixed Interest Maturing - 2 to 5 Years
Fixed Interest Maturing - More than 5 Years
Floating Interest

Financial
Assets
Cash and
Cash
Equivalen
ts

Financial
Liabilitie
s
Trade &
Other
receivable
s

Trade &
Other
Payables

Income in
Advance

300
46,455
556,684

70,072
-

131,057
-

266,647
-

603,438

70,072

131,057

266,647
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
Note 20: Financial Instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management
The Company’s principal financial instruments comprise cash at bank, receivables and accounts
payable.
The Company does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2019. It is, and has been
throughout the period under review, the Company’s policy that no trading in financial instruments
shall be undertaken.
The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are interest rate risk and credit risk.
The policies for managing each of these risks are summarised below.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial asset or liability will change due to interest
rate fluctuations. No financial assets or liabilities were subject to interest rate risk with the exception
of variable rate at call cash deposits.
Credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date to recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.
(b) Net Fair Values
The net fair value of financial assets and liabilities approximates the values shown in the statement
of balance sheet and the notes thereto.
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